
NOVATO SANITARY DISTRICT 
Solid Waste Committee 

Meeting Date:  November 1, 2017 

The Solid Waste Committee of Novato Sanitary District will hold a meeting at 
2:30pm, Wednesday, November 1, 2017 at the District offices, 500 Davidson 
Street, Novato, CA.

AGENDA 
1. APPROVE AGENDA:

2. PUBLIC COMMENT: (PLEASE OBSERVE A THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT)

3. REVIEW OF MINUTES
a. Approve minutes of September 20, 2017.

4. UPDATES/ROUTINE BUSINESS ITEMS:
a. City of Novato.
b. Redwood Landfill.
c. Marin County JPA and Local Task Force.
d. 2017 HHW and E-Waste programs.
e. 2017 Disposal/Diversion reports.

5. RECOLOGY SONOMA MARIN, PUBLIC EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PLAN
a. Receive “Public Education & Outreach Plan, Presented to the Novato Sanitary

District, October 2017”, from Recology Sonoma Marin.
b. Receive presentation on Public Education and Outreach Plan from Ms. Celia

Furber, Waste Zero Coordinator, Recology Sonoma Marin.

6. REQUEST FOR CONSENT TO ASSIGNMENT OF “AMENDED AND RESTATED
AGREEMENT BETWEEN NOVATO SANITARY DISTRICT AND NOVATO
DISPOSAL SERVICE, INC. FOR SOLID WASTE COLLECTION, PROCESSING,
DIVERSION AND DISPOSAL” TO RECOLOGY SONOMA MARIN:
a. Receive “Recology Sonoma Marin Transition Plan for Novato Sanitary District”,

from Recology Sonoma Marin.

This item is to allow anyone present to comment on any subject not on the agenda, or to request 
consideration to place an item on a future agenda.  Individuals will be limited to a three-minute 
presentation. No action will be taken by the Committee at this time as a result of any public comments 
made. 

Materials related to items on this agenda that are public records are available for public inspection in 
the District Office, 500 Davidson Street, Novato, CA, during normal business hours.  They are also 
available on the District’s website: www.novatosan.com.   Note: All times and/or order of consideration 
for agenda items are for reference only.  The committee may consider item(s) in a different order than 
set forth herein. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 1 of 116)



b. Receive Recology, Inc. and Recology Sonoma Marin letter dated October 26, 
2017 titled “Response to Letter from Novato Sanitary District dated September 
28, 2017” with their responses to the eight critical issues identified in the District’s 
letter. (Note: District’s letter of September 28, 2017 provided as Attachment 1 to 
this Item 6.b. for informational purposes). 

c. Receive R3 Consulting Group, Inc. (R3) report titled “Letter Report - Review of 
the Proposed Assignment of Novato Disposal Services Franchise to Recology”, 
and its recommendation to approve the assignment of the Novato Disposal 
Services Franchise Agreement to Recology Sonoma Marin, pending execution of 
an Assignment and Assumption Agreement that is acceptable to the District. 

d. Draft “Assignment and Assumption Agreement - AMENDED AND RESTATED 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN NOVATO SANITARY DISTRICT AND NOVATO 
DISPOSAL SERVICE, INC. FOR SOLID WASTE COLLECTION, PROCESSING, 
DIVERSION AND DISPOSAL”, as prepared by District Counsel. 

Consider Action to: 
e. Recommend to the District Board that it consent to assign the “AMENDED AND 

RESTATED AGREEMENT BETWEEN NOVATO SANITARY DISTRICT AND 
NOVATO DISPOSAL SERVICE, INC. FOR SOLID WASTE COLLECTION, 
PROCESSING, DIVERSION AND DISPOSAL” to Recology Sonoma Marin. 

 
7. ADJOURN: 
 

 

In compliance with the American with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in 
this meeting, please contact the District at (415) 892-1694 at least 24 hours prior to the scheduled 
meeting.  Notification prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable accommodation 
to help ensure accessibility to this meeting.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 2 of 116)



NOVATO SANITARY DISTRICT  
SOLID WASTE COMMITTEE MEETING 

September 20, 2017 

MINUTES 

Members Present: 
Director Jean Mariani Director Jerry Peters 

Others in Attendance: Sandeep Karkal, Dee Johnson - Novato Sanitary District 
Casey Williams, Scott Pariani, Jim Salyers – Novato Disposal Service 
Delyn Kies, Novato resident 
Ed Farewell, Recology Sonoma Marin 
Manijeh Larizadeh, City of Novato 
William Schoen, R3 Consulting Group (by phone) 

1. Approve agenda:  The agenda for September 20, 2017 was approved as submitted.

2. Public Comment:  There was no comment from the public.

3. Updates/Routine Business Items:
a. City of Novato.  There was no update from the City.
b. Redwood Landfill.  There was no update from Redwood Landfill.
c. Marin County JPA and Local Task Force (LTF).  Dee indicated that the LTF would be meeting in

October. 
d. 2017 HHW programs.  Dee indicated that the HHW facility remains very busy with the month of August

having the greatest participation in over 10 years
e. E-Waste event October 7-9, 2017.  The fall e-waste event will be held over 3 days at the Recycling

Center from Oct. 7 – 9, 2017. 

4. 2017 Disposal/Diversion Reports and Novato Disposal Service (NDS) 1st and 2nd Quarterly Reports.  Casey
Williams presented Novato Disposal quarterly reports.  Dee Johnson reported that Novato Disposal’s 2nd

quarter diversion(52.11%) was slightly improved from the 1st quarter (52.02%)

5. Calculated Diversion Rate and CalRecycle Per Capita Diversion Method.
a. Receive Per capita diversion calculation for 2016.  Dee Johnson explained the per capita diversion

calculation method adopted by the state in 2009.  The method changed from a diversion-based system
to a disposal-based indicator – the per capita disposal rate.  Novato is doing a good job with exceeding
the per capita disposal target rate.  Although CalRecycle no longer considers diversion rates as a goal,
the District and many cities and counties have relied upon this calculation as a measurement method, so
CalRecycle developed an equivalent diversion rate calculation.  As of 2016, this equivalent diversion rate
for Novato was 76%.  Director Mariani requested that a chart be prepared of Novato’s comparative
diversion rates for the last five years.

b. Receive CalRecycle publication on diversion rate calculation (“Goal measurement FAQ’s”).

6. Recycling Center and HHW Facility:
a. Receive update from Novato Disposal services (NDS) on potential facility relocation.  Jim Salyers

reported that he had been working with a commercial real estate broker, but had not found any suitable
locations. Issues that make a new location difficult include traffic considerations and industrial zoning
requirements. Committee members suggested a couple of areas to investigate.

7. Calendar Year (CY) 2018 Solid Waste Rate Adjustment.  Sandeep Karkal reviewed the report from R3 on
Novato Disposal’s requested rate adjustment for 2018.  Based on the R3 report, staff recommends that the
Solid Waste Committee recommend a solid waste rate adjustment for CY2018 of 5.04% to the District Board
for its approval.  Committee members discussed the viability of the balancing account for future rate
adjustments.  Following discussion, Committee members unanimously recommended that the solid waste
rate adjustment for CY2018 of 5.04% be brought forward to the Board for its approval.

8. Adjourn.    The meeting adjourned at 4:10 pm.

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 3 of 116)

Item 3

SandeepK
Rectangle



HHW FACILITY SUMMARY 2017 JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER TOTAL

Total Participants 156 283 320 308 428 352 375 432 326 543
  Been to events before?(Yes) 128 233 261 250 333 284 306 349 267 429

  Permanent facility? 107 206 234 226 296 245 258 313 233 369
  Temporary events? 26 42 41 36 58 61 66 57 53 58

  First time user? 28 40 59 58 95 68 69 83 59 119

Type of waste brought in?
Antifreeze 5 20 16 22 26 15 23 46 27 33
Asbestos 0 5 2 0 2 1 4 3 4 4
Auto products 20 36 47 44 66 44 58 91 54 72
Car batteries 1 6 4 11 13 4 10 12 13 16
Computer monitors 9 22 16 19 17 22 22 16 16 26
Cements,sealers 20 29 45 39 53 41 52 66 31 56
E-Waste(all types) 55 99 98 73 89 93 98 115 111 137
Fluorescent tubes& bulbs 26 55 52 44 54 48 54 63 52 85
Fuels(gas,kerosene,diesel) 6 19 28 41 40 26 37 54 45 46
Household batteries 33 78 73 69 98 75 83 101 80 138
Household cleaners, polishes 30 73 70 86 109 84 108 121 85 121
Latex paint 61 97 108 110 178 147 151 187 120 217
Motor oil/filters 15 31 36 37 56 53 47 49 39 74
Oil base paint 29 51 78 68 114 83 107 116 69 127
Paint thinners, solvents 33 65 75 88 117 79 102 131 95 132
Pesticides,herbicides,insecticides 20 42 52 55 99 77 72 108 61 89
Pet care products 4 6 11 8 11 13 11 12 8 16
Photo chemicals 1 3 1 2 2 2 3 2 4 4
Pool Chemicals 2 6 4 8 17 8 11 10 8 21
Propane/helium tanks/fire extinguishers 10 20 20 26 56 38 33 44 34 69
Sharps 1 4 5 5 4 4 2 7 13 10
Spray paints 19 44 51 47 81 68 64 84 52 99
Television 22 42 48 29 26 40 27 43 38 33
Thermometers/Thermostats 3 7 5 4 6 6 3 6 2 4
Wood preservatives, stains 12 27 45 35 68 44 51 75 44 68
Other 1 9 7 3 9 3 15 11 10 20

Hear about program?
  Recycling Center flier 70 113 127 113 165 131 141 173 128 260
  Sanitary District newsletter 31 54 62 66 103 90 74 89 57 129
  Sanitary District website 20 28 35 22 41 44 50 51 35 35
  Novato Disposal newsletter 63 111 141 126 182 149 162 168 124 231
  Word of mouth 25 38 48 33 46 45 48 71 50 51
  Other 7 20 24 15 24 9 19 25 18 17

Change your own motor oil?
  Yes 30 36 42 36 46 42 39 50 42 69

  Novato Recycling Center 22 27 33 25 30 32 26 32 30 51
  O'Reilly's 9 10 12 12 11 11 11 17 14 18
  Pennzoil 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 2
  Other 1 0 5 1 4 0 3 3 1 1
  If yes, want curbside pickup? 10 15 13 9 13 11 12 12 8 20

  No 149 247 278 272 382 310 349 420 283 474

Comments
  Compliments/Good 51 94 117 98 137 118 129 139 110 194
  Complaints 0 0 1 4 5 4 2 5 4 3

Item 4.d.
(Pages 4 to 7)

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 4 of 116)

SandeepK
Rectangle



HHW PARTICIPANTS 2006 - 2017

January February March April May June July August September October November December Totals
2017 156 283 320 308 428 352 375 432 326 543 3,523
2016 193 287 231 372 327 352 307 390 288 275 490 300 3,812
2015 204 229 261 339 309 288 359 424 249 392 258 211 3,523 open 3 days in April, 6 days in August
2014 225 169 196 231 280 249 299 280 293 290 262 183 2,957 open 3 days in April
2013 169 172 193 281 250 223 261 269 231 347 248 181 2,825
2012 142 189 186 152 220 183 217 250 182 251 205 129 2,306
2011 113 173 94 275 186 191 184 250 187 297 220 174 2,344
2010 111 152 199 187 175 212 168 256 162 238 148 100 2,108 August 6 days
2009 138 102 117 184 146 201 179 237 189 183 170 188 2,034 August 6 days
2008 101 118 155 198 147 132 186 156 187 205 130 121 1,836
2007 96 90 111 110 113 98 129 136 152 133 131 117 1,416
2006 57 118 115 112 140 111 145 120 119 95 106 73 1,311

% Change from 
2016 -19.17% -1.39% 38.53% -17.20% 30.89% 0.00% 22.15% 10.77% 13.19% 97.45%

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 5 of 116)



0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Pa
rt

ic
ip

an
ts

HHW Facility Monthly Participation
2007- 2017

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 6 of 116)



NOVATO E-WASTE COLLECTION 
Saturday, October 7 – Tuesday, October 10, 2017 

 
Number of Participants: 705 residents 
     
E- Waste Collected: 34,336  pounds 
 
Background 
 
Novato’s fall E-Waste collection event was held from Saturday, October 7 – Tuesday, 
October 10, 2017 at the Recycling Center.  This special drop off event offers residents 
the opportunity to properly dispose of all electronic items. 
 
Since 2003, at these events, we have collected over 1,524,322 pounds of E-waste, from 
over 24,065 Novato residents. 
 
Participation 
 
A total of 705 residents dropped off E-Waste during the three day event.  Although 
originally scheduled for Saturday through Monday, Monday had to be cancelled due to 
the fires in Sonoma County and lack of staff.  This day was rescheduled to Tuesday, 
October 10, 2017.  Notice was posted on our hotline, website and Facebook pages.  
Daily participation, based on actual surveys is listed below: 
 

 SAT SUN TUES 
Daily Participation 338 259 108 

 
A total of 34,336 pounds of E-Waste was collected over the 3-day period.  The chart 
below illustrates the total pounds and pounds per participant. 
 

Number of participants 705 
Total E-Waste Collected (lbs) 34,336 
Pounds per participant 48.7 

Costs/reimbursements 
Total reimbursement for CRT disposal totaled $2,111.02.  Costs totaled $793.28. for 
ECS non-CRT material collected. 
 

Publicity and Outreach 

Outreach methods included:  
• Article in Novato Disposal newsletter and bill inserts mailed to all customers 
• Article in Sanitary District newsletter mailed to all residents 
• Ad placed in Novato Advance 
• Separate notice on Sanitary District website and Facebook page 
• Fliers posted at Sanitary District, Recycling Center 
• Notices on hotline  
• Banner on Community House and along DeLong Avenue 

Next Event is scheduled for Spring, 2018 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 7 of 116)



NOVATO DISPOSAL SERVICES DISPOSAL/DIVERSION    2017

DIVERSION 1stQ 2ndQ 3rdQ 4thQ TOTAL

Novato Disposal Recycled Shipped (Curbside & Buyback) 3,458 3,082 2,953
Novato Disposal C&D, Wood, Inerts & Bulky waste 420 563 603
Novato Disposal Green waste & residential food waste for compost 3,823 4,026 3,233
Novato Disposal Commercial Food Waste for compost 93 94 95
 TOTAL TONS DIVERTED 7,794 7,765 6,884

DISPOSAL
MSW& Debris Box/Novato Disposal 7,189 7,135 7,066

 TOTAL TONS DISPOSED 7,189 7,135 7,066

TOTAL WASTE GENERATED(TONS) 14,982 14,900 13,950

PERCENT DIVERTED 52.02% 52.11% 49.35%

PERCENT DIVERTED WITH REDWOOD & MRRC 49.27% 53.22%

Item 4.e. 
(Pages 8 to 9)

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 8 of 116)

SandeepK
Rectangle



CITY OF NOVATO & DISTRICT AB939 DISPOSAL AND DIVERSION MONITORING

Haulers:  Novato Disposal Reporting period:  January - December 2017
              Self Haulers

A. 2017 DIVERSION 1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr. TOTAL 2017
Novato Disposal Recycled (Curbside & Buyback) 3,458.00 3,082.00
MRRC recovery 346.32 1,245.33
Self haul Inerts Diverted Redwood Landfill 580.26 1,190.43
Redwood Landfill self haul C&D& wood waste recycled 26.12 92.45
City of Novato C&D diverted(included in Novato Disposal) N/A N/A
ADC from MRRC N/A N/A
Compost from MRRC 114.26 76.83
Greenwaste  From Redwood Landfill self haul/compost 81.80 114.49
Novato Disposal Inerts 420.00 563.00
Novato Disposal Green/Food Waste used for compost 3,823.00 4,026.00
Novato Disposal commercial food waste used for compost 93.00 94.00
North Marin Metal Recycling 0.00 N/A
2017 TOTAL TONS DIVERTED 8,942.76 10,484.53

B. 2017 DISPOSAL
MSW& Debris Box/Novato Disposal 7,189.00 7,135.00
MRRC Residuals 861.67 477.86
MRRC Wood/Yard Waste incinerated/transformation 195.65 109.46
Redwood Landfill self haul C&D waste disposed 1,001.13 1,513.46
Novato waste disposed out-of-county N/A N/A
2017 TOTAL TONS DISPOSED 9,247.45 9,235.78

C. 2017 TOTAL WASTE GENERATED(TONS) 18,190.21 19,720.31

D. COMPLIANCE WITH AB939 DIVERSION MANDATE 49.27% 53.22%
Percent Diverted Using Generation Based Calculation Method(includes 10% incineration waste)

REDWOOD LANDFILL SELF HAUL BREAKDOWN (TONS)

1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr. TOTAL 2017
Inerts/ Diverted 580.26 1,190.43
Greenwaste  Diverted/compost 81.80 114.49
C&D/ Disposed 1,001.13 1,513.46
C&D & Wood Waste Recycled 26.12 92.45
Total 1,689.31 2,910.83

Percent Redwood self haul diverted 40.74% 48.01%

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 9 of 116)



 

 

 

 

 

 

Presented to Novato Sanitary District  

October 2017 

Public Education & 
Outreach Plan 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 10 of 116)

Item 5.a.
(Pages 10 to 18)

SandeepK
Rectangle



SUMMARY 
Recology has a passion for recycling that dates back to the 1920s, and a long and proud history of 
educating communities on the benefits of waste reduction. We strive to create compelling and 
informative outreach and education programs to help excite our customers about participation in 
diversion programs.  

The Recology Sonoma Marin Waste Zero Team will use a variety of strategies to ensure that Novato’s 
public schools, commercial businesses, multi-family residential properties, and single-family homes are 
well informed of the diversion programs available to them and have the necessary tools for success. 

These strategies include: 

• Website
• Newsletters
• Mailers
• Waste Audits
• Physical Tools

• Signage
• Brochures
• Driver Tags
• Presentations
• Waste Zero Events

WEBSITE  
All Recology locations can be found at www.Recology.com. Our website is well maintained, user 
friendly, and mobile friendly. We have developed a sub-site for Novato that is ready for review.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 11 of 116)

http://www.recology.com/


NEWSLETTERS 
Recology Sonoma Marin will develop and mail out tailored bi-annual spring and fall newsletters to all 
Novato customers. Newsletters will promote waste reduction, reuse opportunities, recycling, 
composting, and proper disposal of household hazardous waste.  
 

 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 12 of 116)



MAILERS 
Recology Sonoma Marin will design four tailored campaigns per year for the City of Novato, and will 
promote them through bill inserts or postcard mailers. All new customers will also be sent an 
introductory postcard and overview of services. You can find an example of this below. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 13 of 116)



WASTE AUDITS 
Waste audits are an excellent tool to help schools, commercial, and multi-family customers increase 
diversion. The Recology Sonoma Marin Waste Zero Team will promote waste audits to all customers 
with 4 cubic yards of garbage service or more per week. As well, they will directly contact customers 
that need to be in compliance with AB341 and/or AB1826 to schedule a waste audit. After a waste audit 
has been conducted, service recommendations will be made to maximize diversion.  

 

 

PHYSICAL TOOLS 
Recology Sonoma Marin will provide a variety of indoor containers and other physical tools to help 
Novato customers with their diversion efforts at the cost of the item plus delivery. 

 

 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 14 of 116)



SIGNAGE 
Recology Sonoma Marin will maintain an extensive inventory 
of signage to help elevate diversion programs and ensure 
success, including: indoor and outdoor horizontal or vertical 
image based labels, large posters in English and Spanish 
languages, school specific posters, and “We proudly 
Compost & Recycle here!” window clings.  

     
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 15 of 116)



BROCHURES  
Recology Sonoma Marin will develop informational brochures specific to each customer type and their 
needs, including: commercial customer service guides, multi-family residential property manager 
service guides, and multi-family residential tenant move-out guides. Brochures will be offered in English 
and Spanish languages. 

 

 
 

 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 16 of 116)



DRIVER TAGS  
Recology Sonoma Marin drivers will always have corrective action notices as well as good job cards on 
hand. Corrective action notices inform the customer of any items that need to be removed before a bin 
or cart can be serviced. Good job cards will be used to provide positive feedback for those customers 
who regularly do an exceptional job, or for those who may have recently improved significantly. 
Examples of these items can be found below. 

 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 17 of 116)



 
PRESENTATIONS 
 

The Recology Sonoma Marin Waste Zero Team will be well-equipped to provide hands-on educational 
presentations for kids at schools, as well as for businesses or HOAs. Our school programs are 
designed to engage students on waste reduction, recycling and resource conservation. Programs are 
tailored to align with the classroom curriculum and interests of teachers and students alike.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WASTE ZERO EVENTS  
In addition to hosting Waste Zero educational tables at a minimum of ten Novato community events per 
year, Recology Sonoma Marin will provide recycling, compost, and trash reusable event receptacles to 
ensure event waste is 
diverted as much as 
possible.  

 
 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 18 of 116)



Public Education & Outreach

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 19 of 116)

Item 5.b.
(Pages 19 to 30)

SandeepK
Rectangle



Mailers

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 20 of 116)



Brochures

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 21 of 116)



Signage

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 22 of 116)



Signage

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 23 of 116)



Signage

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 24 of 116)



Signage

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 25 of 116)



Presentations

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 26 of 116)



Waste Zero Events

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 27 of 116)



Newsletters

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 28 of 116)



Website

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 29 of 116)



NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 30 of 116)



RECOLOGY SONOMA MARIN TRANSITION PLAN 
FOR NOVATO SANITARY DISTRICT 

Item 6.a.
(Pages 31 to 46)

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 31 of 116)

SandeepK
Rectangle



Transition Plan 

Included in this plan is Recology Sonoma Marin’s responses to the items raised in Novato Sanitary 
District’s letter dated September 28, 2017, as well as Recology’s detailed transition plan for Novato 
Sanitary District’s service area and the related agreement. For ease of reading, Recology has provided an 
overview the company’s transition experience, followed by sections of information pertaining the items 
raised in the letter and subsequent meetings held at the District on October, 3rd, 2017. 

With any new service implementation, Recology’s goal is to ensure a smooth transition that minimizes 
disruption to customers.  Recology’s implementation team for the District understands the unique 
needs of the Agreement, and has tailored the following transition plan for the District and its customers.     
 
Recology Transition Experience  
Recology Inc. (the parent company of Recology 
Sonoma Marin) is a regional company locally-
based in San Francisco.  With approximately 3,300 
employee-owners in California, Oregon, and 
Washington, Recology Inc. can supply a strong 
team of experienced managers and supervisors to 
assist with the contract transition.  These 
managers and supervisors will assist with 
employee training, program implementation, 
procurement, and other duties to meet the needs 
of the transition.   
 
Recology operating companies have been involved in several major transitions in recent years, and are 
ready to offer their expertise to guide the Novato Sanitary District transition:  

 In 2011, Recology San Mateo County initiated services for the 12 jurisdictions of the South 
Bayside Waste Management Authority (SBWMA) in central and southern San Mateo County.  
The transition was recognized by industry experts as one of the largest of its kind in the United 
States, encompassing over 93,000 residential and 10,000 commercial and multi-family (MFD) 
customers.   

 In 2009, Recology CleanScapes transitioned services for approximately half of the City of Seattle, 
marking the largest single-day transition in the region.  Collection was transitioned for all three 
material streams – garbage, recycling, and organics. 

 In 2001, Recology’s San Francisco collection companies transitioned over 150,000 single- and 
multi-family households to a cart-based, single-stream recycling program.  The program, called 
the “Fantastic Three” after the color-coded carts, has since been replicated by many California 
communities, and is widely recognized as a model for the nation.   

 
Employee On-Boarding and Training 
Following the completion of all contract assignments and the close of the acquisition with The Ratto 
Group (TRG), Recology will re-hire current and eligible TRG employees as full time Recology team 
members.  By purchasing TRG’s company assets and hiring the existing employees, Recology aims to 
ensure continuity in service during the transition.  This transition also presents an opportunity to revisit 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 32 of 116)



critical and fundamental training to increase operational efficiencies and safety, and set high customer 
service standards. 
 
Safety and service are the keys to Recology’s success since 1920, and our training programs will ensure a 
smooth, safe and effective transition for our team members and the communities we serve.  Recology 
has developed customized training programs for its collection service employees, customer service staff, 
and Waste Zero staff.  Below is an overview of these training programs: 
 
Driver Training:  All Recology drivers receive training in 
the operation of Recology equipment and the unique 
aspects of the collection program.  Training is provided in 
the classroom and in the vehicle.  Topics include: 

 Recology CORE On-boarding, to welcome and 
integrate new employees into Recology’s culture.   
During this segment, drivers are taught about 
their job roles and expectations, as well as 
Recology’s culture and values. 

 Customer service training:  This training explores 
the differences between basic customer service 
versus excellent customer service, and how every interaction with a customer is an experience 
and it should be positive and memorable.  Drivers will learn methods to maintain 
professionalism when faced with difficult customers, and tips on how to resolve issues on their 
routes.  

 Franchise training:  During this session, drivers are taught general collection protocols to meet 
the requirements of the collection service agreement. 

 Contamination training:  This training, delivered by a Recology Waste Zero Team member, 
teaches drivers how to identify and document contaminated containers.  Drivers will be trained 
on the procedures for tagging contaminated containers and using the on-board computer 
system to track contaminated loads. 

 Maintenance training:  This training teaches drivers their responsibilities for daily vehicle 
maintenance inspections.   

 Dispatch Operations training:  This training guides drivers through their Route Manual, which 
answers questions that a driver may have regarding their position and route responsibilities.  
Drivers can use the Route Manual as a frame of reference for specific job responsibilities, route 
practices and route expectations. 

 Safety and Equipment Overview:  This program guides drivers through the requirements of 
Recology’s safety training program, to ensure compliance with regulations and industry best 
practices.   

 Truck Training and Obstacle Course:  The majority of Recology’s driver on-boarding program is 
spent in the trucks, actively educating drivers on their use of the vehicles to ensure safety, 
efficiency, and customer service are top-of-mind as they perform their day-to-day job duties. 

 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 33 of 116)



Customer Service Specialist Training:  Recology invests in the development of Customer Service 
Specialists (CSSs) through a comprehensive training program, covering:  

 Recology CORE On-boarding, to welcome and integrate new employees into Recology’s culture.   
During this segment, CSSs are taught about their job roles and expectations, as well as 
Recology’s culture and values. 

 Creating Memorable Customer Service:  The goal of this training is to educate the CSS on 
Recology’s customer base, the services Recology provides, and the CSS’s role in delivering 
excellent service. 

 Franchise Training:  Franchise Training teaches the CSSs general protocols related to the 
agreement 

 Technical Training Elements:  The Technical Training portion covers the majority of the CSS 
training program. During these weeks, the CSSs learn the practical, technical skills they need to 
work with the Recology Customer Relationship Management System (RCRM) database. 

 Contamination Training Delivered by an experienced Recology Waste Zero Specialist, the 
Contamination Training will teach CSSs on the proper procedures for identifying and 
documenting accounts with contamination. 

 In-Field Ride-Along with a Driver:  Communication between customer service, operations, and 
the route driver is vital to ensure customer 
needs are met.  Therefore, Recology CSSs will 
go on a ride-along with a driver to observe field 
conditions and better understand how their 
role relates to customers and collection 
operations.   

 
Waste Zero Specialist Training:  Recology invests in the 
development of Waste Zero Specialists (WZS) through a 
comprehensive training program, covering: 

 Recology CORE On-boarding, to welcome and 
integrate new employees into Recology’s 
culture.   During this segment, WZSs are taught about their job roles and expectations, as well as 
Recology’s culture and values. 

 Customer Service Training:  The WZSs will then complete a training titled “Creating Memorable 
Customer Service,” delivered by the Customer Service Manager.  The goal of this training is to 
educate the WZSs on Recology’s customer base, the services Recology provides, and their role in 
delivering excellent service. 

 Outreach and Education Material Overview:  The WZSs will receive focused training on the types 
of outreach materials available to teach customers about their programs and services. Please 
see the document titled “Novato - Public Education and Outreach Plan” for more details about 
the specific plans for outreach and education to the Novato Sanitary District service area. 

 Franchise Training:  During this session, WZSs are taught the protocols related to the agreement. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 34 of 116)



 Contamination Training:  Delivered by an experienced Recology WZS, the Contamination 
Training teaches employees how to identify and document contaminated containers. 

 Facilities Tours:  The WZSs will receive tours of the processing facilities, to better understand 
this fundamental aspect of the diversion process. 

 Developing Presentation Skills:  This training will provide the WZSs the tools they need to deliver 
hands-on presentations to an array of organizations, including homeowners’ associations, 
business groups, environmental organizations, and schools. 

 Conducting Waste Audits:  During this training, WZS will be taught how to analyze a particular 
customer’s material stream, with a focus on the diversion opportunities available to customers 
by business type. 

 Providing On-Site Technical Assistance:  This training will teach WZS the various types of 
Technical Assistance and training they will provide customers related to Recology’s programs 
and the District’s diversion goals. 

 Reporting and Technical Requirements:  This segment of the On-Boarding Program will teach the 
WZSs about the reporting requirements and their role in meeting those reporting needs 

 Recology in the Community:  During this on-boarding component, the WZSs will meet with a 
Recology Ownership Communication Committee (ROCC) Representative and a Recology 
Volunteer Liaison to learn more about Recology’s dedication to the community 

 Supervisor and Driver Ride-Alongs:  During this component of training, the WZSs will ride with a 
Supervisor and/or Driver, to get an overview of the service area, the routes, and their 
responsibilities to support diversion goals. 

 

Diversion Plans 
Recology has excellent success in meeting diversion goals and requirements made in partnership with 
the communities served. Recology’s mission represents a fundamental shift from traditional waste 
management  - recovering more recyclables to be repurposed into new products and transforming 
organics to nutrient-rich soil amendments.   
 
To support diversion goals, Recology offers dedicated Waste Zero Specialists.  These individuals will be 
Recology’s diversion liaisons in the community, responsible for tasks Recology can offer such as:        

 Offering comprehensive, multi-faceted outreach to all customers, tailored to resident and 
business type 

 Coordinating and producing education events, including educational efforts in schools.   

 Supporting local community service organizations 

 Offering technical assistance to help all customers implement services and optimize diversion, 
including on-site training for businesses   

 Outreach to homeowners’ associations, business groups, multi-family tenants, and 
environmental organizations 

 Conducting site visits to educate customers on diversion goals, contamination concerns, and 
new programs 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 35 of 116)



 On-site waste audits to help customers divert more material from the MSW stream and 
minimize contamination in the recycling and organics stream 

 
The following sections provide an overview of the diversion programs, targeting each customer stream 
and material type.  More information related to Recology’s education and outreach philosophies and 
materials can be found in the “Novato – Public Education and Outreach Plan.” All outreach materials for 
Novato Sanitary District are tailored to the District’s needs and franchise agreement so that each 
customer is receiving information specific to their service area. 
 
Single-Family Recycling Program 
Recology offers many programs that contribute to higher diversion. Some of those programs could 
include working with the District and its residents to launch a Green Block Leader Program, which has 
been a successful tool to promote diversion programs among single-family residents in other Recology 
service areas.  The program educates residents and encourages the, to become local advocates of their 
diversion programs.  Recology staff attends the neighborhood gatherings hosted by the Green Block 
Leaders to educate residents on their programs and services.  This personal and local approach is an 
effective way to encourage single-family customers to increase their 
diversion efforts.   
 
Single-Family Organics Program  
To help customers participate in the organics collection program, 
Recology’s educational outreach focuses on parsing the topic of “food 
scraps recycling” into manageable customer “behaviors” that would 
make the change easier for residents.  Recology would set a measurable 
goal, determine barriers and benefits, and then develop a strategy and 
messaging.  
 
To implement an outreach campaign, Recology would utilize a variety of 
communications channels, such as program brochures, public events, 
media, and community groups (such as the Green Block Leader Program 
described in the “Single-Family Recycling Program” above).  By using a focused, integrated approach, the 
District and Recology would hope to see an increase in participation in the food scrap program over 
time. 
 
Multi-Family Recycling Program  
This program, led by the Waste Zero Specialists, is designed to help increase recycling participation 
among multi-family customers.   
 
Recology has offered recycling services in urban environments for decades, and has found that multi-
family complexes often have varying levels of participation.  Small multi-family complexes (typically four 
to six units) are often more consistent with recycling participation.  Larger complexes, however, face a 
different set of challenges to achieving diversion, including:   

 Tenant turnover, which requires frequent and consistent messaging, outreach, and education to 
stay on diversion targets.   

 Off-site and/or disengaged property managers who are reluctant to support diversion programs.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 36 of 116)



 Garbage chutes, which can discourage tenants from successful source-separation.   

 Space constraints, which can impact the ability to offer containers for three material streams.     
 
Recology’s Multi-Family Recycling Outreach Program can address these obstacles through a variety of 
outreach and education efforts.  To encourage recycling participation, Recology can: 
 

 Partner with homeowners’ associations, resident organizations, and property managers to 
educate tenants on available programs.   

 

 Offer specialized outreach and education material. Recology aims to increase tenant 
participation in recycling programs by providing easy-to-use tools and informative education 
pieces.   

 

 Conduct comprehensive, on-site waste audits to maximize recycling participation and minimize 
contamination. 

 

 Recommend service level changes and container placement to optimize participation.   
 

 Suggest additional equipment, if necessary.  This could include compactors for buildings with 
space constraints, or helping to find creative solutions to accommodate container placement for 
three material streams, such as the Tote bags noted in section 4.4.2 of the Agreement.   

 
Multi-Family Organics Program  
Recology is available to work with the District to offer programs that aim to help multi-family customers 
adopt organics collection.  Under these types of programs, the Waste Zero Specialists can offer multi-
family properties comprehensive waste audits and tailored outreach and education specific to 
implementing organics programs at their properties.  These programs could include:  
 

 Comprehensive, on-site waste audits to maximize organics participation and minimize 
contamination.   
 

 Partnerships with homeowners’ associations, resident organizations, and property managers to 
educate tenants on organics.   

 

 Organics 101 Workshops, led by a Recology Waste Zero Specialist.  The Workshop: 
 Discusses the materials accepted in the complex’s organics program 
 Educates residents on the environmental benefits of composting, including the reduction in 

greenhouse gas emissions at the landfill, and nutrient-rich compost that is created from 
their food scraps 

 Provides details on steps to participate in the program  
 Provides an array of educational material 

 
Commercial Recycling Program  
Recology can also offer programs that aim to help commercial customers see their blue recycling 
carts/bins as a primary container for diversion.  The program focuses on bringing high-volume 
generators into compliance early on, while ramping up diversion efforts thereafter. 
 

 Step 1:  Recology’s Waste Zero Specialists reach out to commercial accounts that generate eight 
yards of MSW or more per week to maximize their recycling levels.  Accounts producing large 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 37 of 116)



amounts of MSW typically have greater recycling opportunities that have not yet been realized, 
and will be encouraged to adjust their service levels to capture more recycling.  

 

 Step 2:  The program’s threshold will be expanded to capture a greater array of accounts.  
Customers who produce four to seven yards of MSW per week can then receive outreach from 
the Waste Zero Team to encourage greater recycling adoption. 

 

 Step 3:  Adjust program to encompass all commercial customers with low diversion levels. These 
customers will be identified through service level analysis conducted by the Waste Zero Team. 

 
Recology’s Waste Zero Specialists can also conduct waste audits and tailored outreach during the 
various phases of the Recycling Outreach Program.  The waste audits analyze a particular customer’s 
material stream, with a focus on the diversion options available to customers by business type.  The 
assessments include:    

 Verification of Services:  The Waste Zero Specialist will document container sizes, quantity, and 
bin descriptions (such as bin numbers and specifications). 

 Assessment:  Taking into account the total volume of material, the Waste Zero Specialist will 
evaluate the percentage in each category: organic, recycling, and solid waste.  

 Follow up with customer:  The customer will be notified of the assessment results and any 
service level recommendations.   

 
After the customer agrees to implement the assessment recommended changes, the Waste Zero 
Specialist may: 

 Work with Recology’s Operations and Customer Service departments to implement service level 
changes. 

 Recommend additional equipment, if necessary.  This could include compactors for buildings 
with space constraints, or helping to find creative solutions to accommodate container 
placement for three material streams.   

 Provide Public Educational Tools:  Posters, flyers, brochures, and internal containers.  

 Provide further educational material, presentations, and on-site training for employees.  
Commercial Organics Program  
Recology can offer programs that help commercial customers 
implement organics collection programs, helping customers to 
comply with AB 1826 and increase their overall diversion rates to 
help achieve the District’s goals.  The messaging of the 
Commercial Organics Program can be communicated to customers 
alongside the messaging of the Commercial Recycling Program, 
helping customers embrace the concept of a three-material 
stream sorting system.   
 
Similar to the Commercial Recycling Outreach Program, the 
Organics Program can also include waste audits (conducted in 
tandem with the Commercial Recycling Program waste audits) and 
educational outreach to optimize organics participation.  The 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 38 of 116)



Program features several different components designed to achieve higher diversion levels throughout 
the Agreement:  
 

 Step 1:  The Waste Zero Team can reach out to commercial customers that are estimated to 
generate four yards or more of organics per week to ensure they are participating in organics 
service and complying with the requirements of AB 1826.  The Team will help customers identify 
organics diversion opportunities and optimize participation.   

 

 Step 2:  The program will be expanded to customers who produce four yards or more of MSW 
per week, complying with AB 1826.   

 

 Step 3: The program will focus on customers with a overall low diversion levels. 
 

Outreach and Education 
Recology will distribute and publish a variety of communications to the District’s residents and 
businesses throughout the transition and service calendar. Effective outreach programs and campaigns 
not only educate customers on the services available, but also foster positive customer relations and 
interest in recycling and diversion programs. The intent of these communications will be to concurrently 
provide necessary program information and foster a sense of excitement around available diversion 
priorities and options. 
 
Announcement of New Services and Subscription Mailer  
Recology will prepare and distribute an initial mailing to customers explaining the change from the 
existing collection company to the services provided by Recology.  Different announcements will be 
tailored to single-family, multi-family, and commercial customers.  Contents could include:   

 Information on billing and payment options 

 Website URL 

 Description of the collection programs 

 Links to posters, flyers, and other downloadable documents online 

 Guidance on setting up account access online 

 Tips on improving recycling and composting 
 
Collection Days  
Recology does not anticipate any change in collection days, but in the event that a change in collection 
day occurs, Recology will notify impacted customers.  Announcements will be tailored to single-family, 
multi-family, and commercial customers, as applicable, and may include automated robocalls, post 
cards, or other print material.   
 
Multi-Family and Commercial Posters  
Recology will design and distribute posters to multi-family and commercial property managers for on-
site use, illustrating the recyclable materials collection program and the commercial food scrap 
collection program, as applicable to program participants.   

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 39 of 116)



These posters are designed to educate program participants on proper sorting.  Below are examples of 
Recology’s successful commercial posters provided to businesses in San Mateo County.  Similar designs 
will be made for Recology Sonoma Marin customers. 

 
 
Press Release  
Recology will prepare and distribute public service announcements (PSAs) for local radio and cable 
television broadcasts, as well as advertisements and press releases for local newspapers, the website, 
and other community groups.   
 
Contacting Recology 
Recology will maintain the current customer service telephone number, and the current website will be 
redirected to the new Recology website which is specific for the Novato Sanitary District service area.  
This will help minimize customer confusion during the service transition.   
 
Recology will regularly update the District on the status of the transition, and looks forward to 
collaborating with the District on outreach activities (described above) and educational efforts.   
 
 
 
 

 
 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 40 of 116)



 
Management of Vehicles and Equipment 
 
Fleet, Carts and Containers 
Recology understands that a smooth transition for all utilized fleet vehicles and equipment is essential.  
Working directly with Recology’s Vice President, Equipment Procurement & Maintenance and Facilities 
Development, Recology will ensure all the vehicles needed to perform under the agreement with the 
Novato Sanitary District are ready and available and that all vehicles 
are both safe and compliant.   
 
Route audits will be conducted in the service area to verify that all 
vehicles and equipment in the area are documented correctly and 
meet the standards and expectations of both Recology’s service 
standards as well as all contractual obligations defined in the 
agreement with the District.   
 
Recology will refurbish and replace vehicles and equipment to 
ensure all state and federal rules, laws and standards are met in a timely manner. Details relating to 
vehicle age and replacement schedules were furnished to R3 and should be detailed in their report.  If 
more details about the fleet specifics are needed, Recology can respond to those specific requests after 
the close of the transaction once the business is under Recology operation and management.  
 
Database Management  
TRG currently maintains a complete customer database for Novato Disposal Services, which will be 
integrated into the Recology Customer Relationship Management (RCRM).  The customer database for 
the District already includes all pertinent information for routing, billing, and service levels, such as: 

 Customer name 
 Billing address 
 Service address 
 Contact information 
 Service level including size and number of containers 
 Collection day(s) 
 Current routes 
 Special servicing requirements  
 Entry key electronic opening device or entry code requirements 
 Account history  

 

Efficient Routing 
After the close of the transaction with TRG, Recology intends to go through an exercise to evaluate the 
routes currently servicing the Novato Sanitary District area. Recology does this through utilizing the 
experience of its supervisor and management team as well as using tools such as RouteSmart software. 
Using RouteSmart software, Recology operating companies experience a measurable reduction in 
vehicle miles traveled, fuel use, tire wear, greenhouse gas emissions, and street wear-and-tear.  
 
RouteSmart integrates seamlessly with ESRI’s ArcGis family of mapping products and provides the ability 
to balance routes based on time, number of lifts, or potential volumes and densities to be collected.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 41 of 116)



The system takes into account vehicle type, address restrictions, and service time-of-day constraints, 
among other parameters.   
 
For regularly scheduled collection, customer information is downloaded from the RCRM database into 
RouteSmart for routing.  The routed data is interfaced back to the RCRM database, providing accurate 
customer information to anyone with access to either online inquiry or reports from the RCRM system.   
 
Throughout the term of the agreement routes will be continually subject to modifications to 
accommodate demographic and customer changes.  
  
Safety Systems and Procedures 
Safety of our employees and the communities we serve is critical to our success and continuity.  As 
mentioned before, training is a critical part of our on boarding process but the safety training continues 
every day after an employee-owner’s first days.  Team safety trainings occur on no less than a monthly 
basis for all operators and extensive supplemental programs are made available throughout the year 
such as Smith System driving training.   
 
Recology utilizes a variety of technology to support safety.  One 
example is an on-board safety system called DriveCam that allows 
for video recording of triggered safety events happening in front of 
the operating vehicles.  This footage is reviewed daily by 
supervisors and management and used in coaching and 
accountability discussions with the operators.  This video footage 
serves a mentoring tool for all of the employees and is 
incorporated into a safety resource library.   
 
Safety teams analyze events and claims on a regular basis 
identifying recurring behaviors and factors.  This data is then used 
to modify, focus and evolve safety training and outreach 
throughout the company.  It’s a simple program that has yielded 
positive results companywide for Recology and has allowed sites to 
learn from the collective lessons learned versus waiting for 
personal experience to serve as a mentor.  
 
 
 

Customer Service Plans  
 
One of the keys to a successful transition and ongoing service is a 
suitable and well-equipped customer service system to supplement 
the customer-centric mentality Recology champions.  Excellence in service is a detailed below in some of 
the processes built into our customer service department.  
 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 42 of 116)



Customer Service Workflow  
Recology will be keeping the current phone numbers in use so as to minimize the impact on the 
District’s residents and businesses. The Recology Sonoma Marin call center will be equipped with a 
ShoreTel Voice Over IP (VOIP) phone system with unified communications and contact center 
capabilities.  ShoreTel’s solutions are built to scale, grow, and evolve as needed.   The ShoreTel system is 
centrally managed through an intuitive server interface that makes complex tasks easier to accomplish.  
Recology IT staff can manage the system from anywhere on the network or from anywhere there is 
internet connectivity. 
 
The ShoreTel system allows Recology to create customized queues for Automatic Call Distribution (ACD).  
Any call is routed through the ShoreTel system, placed into the appropriate queue, and automatically 
distributed to the next available CSSs.  Supervisors can monitor progress in the queue.      
 
All customer data and interactions are recorded in the Recology Customer Relationship Management 
(RCRM) system.  The RCRM system is an IBM iSeries-based system that was developed over the past 28 
years to provide functionality specific to the collection and recycling business.  This software is updated 
to accommodate changes in the industry and new government regulations.  The system records the 
history of all customer-related service and interactions, including: 

 Customer and service level information 
 Billing and payment history 
 Customer service issues and inquiries   
 Routing 
 Ticketing 
 Dispatching  

 
Recology’s customer concern resolution process focuses 
on accountability and up-to-date information.  For each 
service request, a work order (or “ticket”) is created in 
the RCRM system.  The tickets are time-stamped, and 
remain open until the request is completed.  Once 
completed, a “resolution” is entered in the system, 
featuring a closing date, time, and detailed nature of 
the inquiry/resolution.   
 
Recology Customer Service Specialists (CSS) will also 
address in-office inquiries, such as billing questions, 
service adjustments, and opening or closing accounts.  
Route dispatchers ensure that any inquiry that needs to 
be addressed in the field (such as special pickup requests) is dispatched to the appropriate driver and 
addressed as soon as possible.   
 
Customer concerns requiring a follow-up call will be entered as “tickets” in the RCRM system and sent to 
either a Route Supervisor of a CSS for call back within 24 hours of resolution.  
When the driver returns to the yard at the end of the shift, the dispatcher debriefs the driver and 
reviews any tickets that were sent throughout the day.  Any tickets for resolution by the Operations 
Supervisor will be created.   

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 43 of 116)



 
In addition, Recology creates an open ticket report at the end of each day to ensure open tickets are 
delivered to dispatch for distribution to drivers.  Copies of open ticket reports are provided to 
department managers at the close of each business day so the manager may follow up on outstanding 
concerns and appropriately distribute workloads.   
 
Billing Inquires  
Billing is a module within the RCRM software, and customer service information and billing information 
are therefore fully integrated.  Customers with billing concerns can contact the call center, where all CSS 
are trained to address billing concerns and make adjustments as necessary in the RCRM system.   
 
All charges and credits eventually appear on the bill that is provided to the customer, and a history of 
those bills is available to the CSSs for review.  This data aids the CSSs with answering customer billing 
questions.  Customers can also access the Recology website 24 hours a day, seven days a week to view 
and pay their bill or submit billing inquiries.  
 
Phone System  
Recology’s Call Center will be equipped with a 
ShoreTel Voice Over IP (VOIP) phone system with 
unified communications and contact center 
capabilities.  A single PRI (Primary Rate Interface) is 
capable of handling 23 calls at one time; depending on 
the magnitude of the contract, Recology can 
implement multiple PRIs.    
 
ShoreTel’s solutions are built to scale, grow, and 
evolve as needed.  The ShoreTel system is centrally 
managed through an intuitive server interface that 
makes complex tasks easier to accomplish.  Recology 
IT staff can manage the system from anywhere on the network or from anywhere there is internet 
connectivity. 
 
With a small energy footprint, a single ShoreTel module will support 90 phones and voicemail boxes 
with 56 hours of voicemail storage.  Adding more phones and voicemail boxes is as simple as adding 
another ShoreTel module, making expandability almost unlimited.  Additionally, the call center will have 
immediate access to interpreters in over 175 languages through AT&T’s Language Line.  Recology will 
also identify multi-lingual CSSs.  A TDD relay service will be used to provide customer service to hearing 
impaired customers. 
 
Website   
Recology maintains a website with pages tailored to each of its service areas, and has created one for 
Novato Sanitary District. The website will become live once the transaction is closed.   

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 44 of 116)



Recology’s online Account Management 
capabilities allow customers to manage 
their account at their own pace.  After a 
simple enrollment process, (which requires 
the customer’s account number and service 
address for validation), customers can view 
their current service levels and scheduled 
service days.   The website enables 
customers to: 

 Request service changes 
 Change contact and billing 

information 
 Submit enquiries 
 View and pay their bill 
 View their next billing cycle 
 Request special services 
 View current service rates  
 Learn about services and programs 

 
Beyond Account Management, Recology offer a variety of other information on its websites designed to 
educate customers on Recology’s services and programs.  Content would be tailored to the City, and 
could include: 

 Links to outreach and education material 
 Announcements on new programs and services 
 Standard service descriptions 
 A “Contact Us” function, allowing customers to contact Recology 
 Links to upcoming events  

 
Recology also uses social media to help spread its Waste Zero mission and educate customers on 
services.  This serves as an additional method for Recology to share service updates, and community 
events, tips on sustainable living, and news.   
  
Payment Options   
Recology accepts bill payments online, over the telephone, by mobile application, in-person, or as 
recurring monthly charges.  The majority of Recology’s customer bills are produced on paper and mailed 
to customers.  However, a growing number of Recology’s customers prefer to pay their bills 
electronically.  
     
Customers have the option to receive their bills and make payments electronically over a secure website 
through Recology’s e-BillPay product.  Payments can be made from credit card, checking, or savings 
accounts, accessed through the website.   
 
In addition, Recology offers customers the option of paying their service bills via recurring Automated 
Clearing House (ACH) direct debits from a customer-authorized bank account.  To pay by ACH debit, 
customers must provide Recology the applicable bank account information and authorize the deduction 
from their bank account. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 45 of 116)



 
Recology also accepts in-person bill payment.  Recology’s CSSs can also process payments made over the 
phone using a checking or savings account, or by credit or debit card.  CSSs accept these payments using 
the e-Bill Pay option, which processes the payment electronically and eliminates the need to take 
payment checks to the bank. 
 

Additional Contractual Requirements 
Recology Sonoma Marin understands and recognizes that it will be bound by the existing contract terms 
currently defined in the franchise agreement. 
 
Recycling Centers 
Recology understands that two buyback/recycling facilities are obligated under the existing contract, 
with one site currently under operation (to be relocated) and a second facility yet to be relocated.  
Recology is committed to working with the management of the Novato Sanitary District as well as any 
other parties mutually deemed appropriate in order to meet these community needs.    
 
Increased Outreach 
Please refer to the document titled “Novato – Public Education and Outreach Plan” to review the details 
of Recology Sonoma Marin’s plans to address the increased outreach to the District’s community and 
public schools. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 46 of 116)



October 26, 2017 

Sandeep Karkal 
General Manager-Chief Engineer 
Novato Sanitary District 
500 Davidson Street 
Novato, CA 94945 

Re: Response to Letter from Novato Sanitary District dated September 28, 2017 

Dear Sandeep, 

Thank you for the District’s letter on September 28, 2017. In addition to providing the Recology Sonoma Marin 
Transition Plan for the Novato Sanitary District, below are responses to the eight identified issues from the 
letter.   

With any new service implementation, Recology’s goal is to ensure a smooth transition that minimizes 
disruption to customers.  Recology’s implementation team for the District understands the unique needs of 
the District, and have carefully responded to the issues that have been raised.  

For ease of review, we have placed the specific identified issues in gray italicized text prior to the 
corresponding responses. 

1. Failure of NDS to meet its Zero Waste Minimum Landfill Diversion Requirement of 60% by December
31, 2015.

Recology has a proven track record of meeting diversion goals and requirements made in partnership
with the communities we service. Recology’s mission represents a fundamental shift from traditional
waste management to recovering more recyclable and compostable materials to be repurposed into
new products. Our dedicated Waste Zero team excels at providing the outreach, education, follow-up
and service changes needed to ensure all customers are fully engaged with the provided diversion
programs. As well, the Waste Zero team will take initiative with commercial and multi-family dwelling
customers to help them achieve full compliance with state laws AB 341 and AB 1826.

Additionally, the  Material Recovery Facility (MRF), where the source separated recyclables are
processed, has recently undergone renovations. The MRF upgrades will not only increase the
efficiencies of the processing system, but will also reduce the residue from the process which leads to
overall higher recycling numbers at the facility.

Within 3 months of the assignment and close date of the acquisition, Recology will provide a proposal
to the District on how the diversion requirements will be met. This plan will outline the proposed
timelines, programs, and stakeholders needed to achieve that diversion. Recology believes that a
programmatic approach is the most successful method to achieving higher diversion levels. And the

Item 6.b.
Pages (47 to 53)

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 47 of 116)

SandeepK
Rectangle



Recology program includes targeted customer outreach, excellent customer service, and encouraging 
commercial and multi-family recycling and composting participation. So in the proposal to the District, 
Recology will also address the plans and timelines for items 2, 3, 6, 7, and 8. 
 

2. The poor performance of NDS’s Commercial and MFD Organic Waste Service, particularly given its 
failure to meet its 60% Diversion Requirement. 
 
Recology views organics collection as one of the most important aspects of reaching higher diversion 
levels. Recology has developed successful programs where a combination of effective outreach, 
ongoing campaigns, and in-person follow-ups lead to not only more participation in the organics 
collection programs, but also lower contamination. With mandates such as AB 1826, commercial and 
multi-family dwelling customers are more incentivized than ever to participate in such programs. 
 
The dedicated Waste Zero team uses a variety of strategies to ensure all customers are both well-
informed and actively participating in the recycling and organics programs by providing necessary tools 
for success. These strategies and tools include a specialized website, newsletters, mailers, signage, 
brochures, driver tags, physical waste audits, phone calls and in-person meetings. Recology will also 
perform route audits throughout the District. These route audits inform the Waste Zero team where 
there are compliance and contamination issues with the organics programs. That information can then 
be used to follow up directly with the customers. Together all these 
efforts should lead to overall better performance and higher diversion for 
the District.  
 

3. Failure to provide MFD Recycling Tote Bags. 
 
Recology will provide recycling tote bags to multi-family dwellings as 
required by the Agreement. Recology has found that providing multi-
family units with recycling “buddy bags” helps encourage easy 
participation in the recycling program. The “buddy bags” are designed to 
help tenants properly sort, store, and carry their recyclable materials to 
their complex’s container.   
 

4. Relocation of the Recycling Center and HHW Facility and the addition of a second buy-back center. 
 
Recology will cooperate with the District as required by the Agreement to relocate the existing 
Recycling Center/HHW Facility and establish a second beverage container buyback center. We assume 
it will be necessary to find suitable new locations and obtain third party consents in order to establish 
these facilities, and we will work with the District in that process as well. 
 

5. Lack of provision of two (2) convenient locations in the Novato area where payments can be made. 
 
Recology will work with the District to provide appropriate payment locations within the Novato area 
as required by the Agreement, one of which could be the Recycling Center/HHW Facility. 
 

6. Lack of adequacy of NDS’s customer service system. 
 
One  of the keys to a  successful  transition and successful ongoing service is a  well-equipped  
customer service  department  to  supplement  the  customer-centric  mindset  Recology  champions.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 48 of 116)



mailto:mbutler@recology.com


Item 6.b. 
Attachment 1 

Pages (50 to 53)

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 50 of 116)

SandeepK
Rectangle



NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 51 of 116)



NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 52 of 116)



NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 53 of 116)



1512 Eureka Road, Suite 220, Roseville, CA 95661 

Tel: 916‐782‐7821  |  Fax: 916‐782‐7824 

2600 Tenth Street, Suite 424, Berkeley, CA 94710 

Tel: 510‐647‐9674 

627 S. Highland Avenue, Suite 300, Los Angeles, CA 90036 

Tel: 323‐559‐7470   

October 27, 2017 

Mr. Sandeep Karkal  
Novato Sanitary District 
5000 Davidson Street 
Novato, CA 94945 

Re:  Letter  Report  ‐  Review  of  the  Proposed  Assignment  of  Novato  Disposal  Services 
Franchise to Recology 

Dear Mr. Karkal: 

R3  Consulting Group,  Inc.  (R3) was  engaged  by  the Novato  Sanitary District  (District)  to  Review  the 
Proposed Assignment of Novato Disposal Service’s  (NDS) Franchise  to Recology. NDS  is owned by The 
Ratto Group (TRG). Our review involved two distinct components. The first was a global review of issues 
related  to  the  assignment  that  affect  all  jurisdictions  for which  TRG  is  requesting  assignment  of  its 
contracts. The second component addresses issues specific to the District. This Letter Report presents the 
results of our review to date. 

Background 

Global Review 

The  cities,  towns,  counties  and  other  agencies  (Agencies)  holding  solid  waste  collection  franchise 
agreements  and other  agreements  (Agreements) with  the  various  subsidiary  companies of TRG have 
received requests from TRG to assign the Agreements to Recology Sonoma Marin (Recology), a subsidiary 
of Recology, Inc.  

TRG and Recology have entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (APA) that involves Recology acquiring 
substantially all of  the assets of TRG,  including  the Agreements as well as all equipment and  facilities 
currently used by TRG to perform services for the Agencies. Unlike a stock purchase, wherein the entire 
company would be purchased and operations taken over under a new name, this asset purchase would 
effectively render TRG without assets to provide services, as those assets would become the property of 
Recology. 

R3 Consulting Group, Inc. (R3) was engaged to conduct a review of the fitness of Recology on behalf of 
the Agencies in order to establish findings regarding the proposed assignment. 

This review included an assessment of: 

 Assignment provisions and other requirements of available Agreements;

 Financial  and  operational  information  provided  by  TRG  and  Recology,  and  establishment  of
findings of the appropriateness of assignment based on our review; and

 Likely effects of assignment on rates and services for individual agencies.

It should be made clear that R3 was not able to review the APA as TRG and Recology stated that the APA 
is confidential and would not be provided  for  review. As a  result, R3’s global  review of  the  fitness of 
Recology was  limited to a review of the vehicle and facility assets subject to the APA and financial and 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 54 of 116)

Item 6.c.
(Pages 54 to 114)

SandeepK
Rectangle



Mr. Sandeep Karkal 
October 27, 2017 
Page 2 of 4 
 

 

 

operational documents provided by Recology as they relate to Recology’s ability to perform services for 
the Agencies per their respective Agreements.  

Review of Issues Specific to the District 

Section 11.6 (Assignment) of the franchise agreement between the District and NDS (Attachment 1), lays 
out the process for, and requirements related to, any assignment of the District’s Franchise with TRG. 
Section 11.6.3 provides a listing of specific requirements that the proposed assignee (i.e., Recology) must 
satisfy,  including solid waste management experience. To a  large extent, the assessment of Recology’s 
compliance  with  those  requirements  have  been  covered  in  the  global  review  that  was  conducted. 
Separate from those more global requirements, a review of District specific issues related to the proposed 
assignment was conducted. That review identified issues specific to NDS’s performance of its contractual 
obligations, and Recology’s plan for addressing those issues where NDS is not currently in compliance with 
its contractual obligations. 

Global Review Findings 
A summary of our findings to date are as follows: 

 Recology’s  operational  experiences  qualify  the  company  to  provide  services  under  the 
agreements;  

 Recology’s  financial  resources  appear  sufficient  to meet  the  obligations  of  the  agreements, 
including vehicle and equipment capital replacements planned for 2018; 

 The Agencies should anticipate that Recology will request rate increases in the near future; and 

 The Agencies generally have some discretion regarding whether or not to consider and accept 
these rate increases (depending on their timing and justification).  

We offer these findings with the caveat that neither Recology nor TRG provided us access to the Asset 
Purchase Agreement (APA), and our findings are limited by lack of access to this information. Moreover, 
R3 has  found  that  the  vehicle  fleet  to be purchased by Recology  from TRG will  likely  largely  require 
replacement in the near future. We have found that the average age of the vehicle fleets assigned to some 
Agencies is much greater than others, meaning that those agencies could face a larger rate increase than 
other agencies. 

Attachment 2 contains a copy of the Executive Summary from the Draft Report on Review of Assignment 
of TRG.  

Review of District Specific Issues 
TRG and Recology sent the District a Request for Consent of Assignment on August 18, 2017 (Attachment 
3). Recology then submitted a letter to the District on August 25, 2017 (Attachment 4) providing responses 
to the assignment requirements described in Section 11.6 of the franchise agreement between the District 
and NDS (Attachment 1). 

Critical Issues 

The District issued a letter to Recology on September 28, 2017 (Attachment 5) that included, among other 
things, a listed the following eight (8) critical issues related to NDS’s performance under the Agreement 
that require prompt attention: 

1. Failure  of  NDS  to meet  its  Zero Waste Minimum  Landfill  Diversion  Requirement  of  60%  by 

December 31, 2015; 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 55 of 116)



Mr. Sandeep Karkal 
October 27, 2017 
Page 3 of 4 

2. The poor performance of NDS’s Commercial  and MFD Organic Waste  Service  (Section 4.3.4),

particularly given its failure to meet its 60% Landfill Diversion Requirement;

3. Failure to provide MFD Recycling Tote Bags (Section 4.4.2);

4. Relocation of the Recycling Center (Section 4.11.7), and HHW Facility and the addition of a second

Buy‐back (4.8.2);

5. Lack of provision of two (2) convenient locations in the Novato area where payments can be made

(Section 5.2.1);

6. Lack of adequacy of NDS’s customer service system (Section 5.2);

7. Increased community outreach (Section 5.4 and Exhibit 4); and

8. Increased outreach to public schools (Section 4.6.2 and Exhibit 5).

That letter also requested that Recology provide a “Remediation Plan” to address each of those eight (8) 
issues, and a “Transition Plan” that lists specific tasks, and associated schedule for the transition. Recology 
subsequently  submitted  a  “Recology  Sonoma  Marin  Transition  Plan  for  Novato  Sanitary  District” 
(Attachment  6),  that  provided  various  general  information  related  to  Recology’s  employee  training, 
diversion  plans,  management  of  vehicles  and  equipment,  customer  service  plans,  and  additional 
contractual requirements. Recology also submitted a Public Education & Outreach Plan (Attachment 7) 
that  provided  information  on  Recology’s  website,  newsletters,  mailers,  waste  audits  and  other  public  
education strategies, and an October 26, 2017 letter re: “Response to Letter from Novato Sanitary District 
dated September 28, 2017 (Attachment 8). That October 26, 2017  letter provided specific responses to 
each of the eight (8) critical issues listed above, and committed to providing the District with a proposal 
on how it would meet the contractual diversion requirements within three (3) months of the assignment. 

Diversion Requirements  

Among  the  eight  (8)  identified  issues  is  the NDS’s  failure  to meet  its  Zero Waste Minimum  Landfill 
Diversion Requirement of 60% by December 31, 2015. Meeting the 60% contractual Landfill Diversion 
Requirements  will  require  a  concerted  effort  by  Recology  to  maximize  diversion  through  existing 
programs,  including  commercial  recycling and  commercial organics programs. Should Recology  fail  to 
meet  that  requirement, or  comply with any other  contractual  requirements, Section 10.3  (Liquidated 
Damages) (Attachment 9) includes the following provision: 

“Accordingly, the District may, in its discretion, but after complying with notice and hearing procedures 
set  forth below, assess  liquidated damages not  to exceed Five Hundred  ($500.00) per day,  for each 
calendar day that Collection Service1 is not provide by the Company in accordance with this agreement.” 

Section 4.9 (Zero Waste Minimum Requirements) contemplates the potential need for Wet‐Dry Collection 
(Section 4.9.7)  to meet  the December 31, 2020 70%  Landfill Diversion Requirement,  and Conversion 
Technology  (Section  4.9.8)  to  meet  the  December  31,  2025  80%  Landfill  Diversion  Requirement 
(Attachment 10). 

Recommendation 
Based on the representations of Recology, as presented in the various documents referenced in this report 
and elsewhere, and pending execution of an Assignment and Assumption Agreement that is acceptable 

1   Collection Services is defined in Section 1.12 as: Single‐Family Collection Service (SFD), Multi‐family Collection 
Services  (MFD), Commercial Collection Service, and Debris Box Collection Service, and Collection Service  for 
Local Governmental Agencies Within the District Boundaries. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 56 of 116)



Mr. Sandeep Karkal 
October 27, 2017 
Page 4 of 4 

to the District, we recommend that the District approve the assignment of NDS’s franchise to Recology. 
Attachment  11  provides  a  preliminary  draft  Assignment  and  Assumption  Agreement  developed  by  
Recology. The District is currently drafting revisions to this document. 

*       *       *       *       *       *       * 
We appreciate the opportunity to be of assistance to the District. Should you have any questions regarding 
this submittal or need any additional information, please contact me by cell at (510) 292‐0853, or by email 
at wschoen@r3cgi.com.  

Sincerely, 

R3 CONSULTING GROUP 

William Schoen | Principal 

Attachments: 

1 Section 11.6 (Assignment) of Franchise Agreement 

2 Executive Summary – Draft Report on Review of Assignment of TRG Agreements to 
Recology, October 16, 2017 

3 Recology and TRG August 18, 2017 Letter to District 

4 Recology August 25, 2017 Letter to District 

5 District September 28, 2017 Letter to Recology 

6 Recology Sonoma Marin Transition Plan for Novato Sanitary District 

7 Novato – Public Education and Outreach Plan 

8 Recology October 26, 2017 Letter to District 

9 Section 10.3 (Liquidated Damages) of Franchise Agreement 

10 Section 4.3 (Zero Waste Minimum Requirements) of Franchise Agreement 

11 Draft Assignment and Assumption Agreement 

R:\+Projects\Novato Sanitary District ‐ Recology Assignment ‐117051\Report\Novato Sanitary District ‐ Assignment  Final 

Letter Report ‐ 102717.docx 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 57 of 116)



Attachment 1

1 ARTICLE 11 OTHER AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES 

2 11.1 Relationship of Parties 
3 The parties intend that the Company shall perform the services required by this 
4 Agreement as an.independent the Company engaged by the District and not as an officer 
5 or employee of the District nor as a partner of or joint venture with the District. No 
6 employee or agent of the Company shall be or shall be deemed to be an employee or 
7 agent of the District. Except as expressly provided herein, the Company shall have the 
8 exclusive control over the manner and means of conducting the Collection Services 
9 performed under this Agreement, and all persons performing such services. The 

10 Company shall be solely responsible for the acts and omissions of its officers, employees, 
11 subcontractors, and agents. Neither the Company nor its officers, employees, 
12 subcontractors, and agents shall obtain any rights to retirement benefits, workers' 
13 compensation benefits, or any other benefits that accrue to District employees. 

14 11.2 Compliance with Law 
15 In providing the services required under this Agreement, the Company shall at all times, 
16 at its sole cost, comply with all applicable statutes, ordinances and laws of the United 
17 States, the State of California, applicable local public agencies (including the District); 
18 and with all applicable regulations promulgated by federal, state, regional, or local 
19 administrative and regulatory agencies, now in force and as they may be enacted, issued, 
20 or amended during the term. 

21 11.3 Governing Law 
22 This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, 
23 the laws of the State of California. 

24 11.4 Jurisdiction 
25 Any lawsuits between the parties arising out of this Agreement shall be brought and 
26 concluded in the courts of the State of California, County of Marin, or within the U.S. 
27 District Court, Northern District of California. 
28 
29 

With respect to venue, the parties agree that this Agreement is made in ·and will be 
performed in Marin County. 

30 11.5 Mediation 
31 The parties agree to consider mediation prior to filing suit, provided, however, that there 
32 is no concern as to a statute of limitations issue. If either party tiles suit with respect to 
33 performance of this Agreement, the parties agree to seek mediation services during the 
34 first ninety (90) days of the lawsuit. 

35 11.6 Assignment 
36 Except as may be provided for in Atticle 9 (District's Right to Perform Service), neither 
37 party shall assign its rights nor delegate, subcontract, or otherwise transfer its obligations 
38 under this Agreement to any other person without the prior written consent of the other 
39 pru.ty, except as provided for a joint powers authority described below. Any such 

Page 71 of 100 

Item 6.c. 
Attachments 1 to 11 

(Pages 58 to 114)

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 58 of 116)

wschoen
Highlight

SandeepK
Rectangle



Attachment 1

1 
2 

3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 

33 
34 
35 
36 
37 

38 
39 
40 
41 

assignment made without the consent of the other party shall be void and the attempted 
assignment shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 

For purposes of this Section, when used in reference to the Company, "assignment" shall 
include, but not be limited to (i) a sale, exchange, or other transfer of substantially all of 
the Company's assets dedicated to service under this Agreement to a third party; (ii) a 
sale, exchange, or other transfer of the outstanding common stock of the Company to a 
third party, provided said sale, exchange, or transfer may result in a change of control of 
the Company; (iii) any dissolution, reorganization, consolidation, merger, re
capitalization, stock issuance or re-issuance, voting trust, pooling agreement, escrow 
arrangement, liquidation, or other transaction to the Company, any of its shareholders, 
subsidiary, or parent company is a patty which results in a change of ownership or 
control of the Company; (iv) any assignment by operation of law, including insolvency or 
bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, writ of attachment for an execution 
being levied against this Agreement, appointment of a receiver taking possession of the 
Company's property, or transfer occurring in the event of a probate proceeding; (v) 
transfer of responsible management control of the Company from the current Chairman 
of the Board (James Ratto); and (vi) any combination of the foregoing (whether or not in 
related or contemporaneous transactions) that has the effect of any such transfer or 
change of ownership, or change in control of the Company. Nothing herein shall be 
deemed to prevent the current Chairman of the Board of the Company (James Ratto) 
from buying out other shareholders of the Company. 

The Company acknowledges that this Agreement involves rendering a vital service to the 
District's residents and businesses, and that the District has selected the Company to 
perform the services specified herein based on (1) the Company's experience, skill, and 
reputation (and that of James Ratto as the responsible managing officer of the Company) 
for conducting its solid waste management operations in a safe, effective, and responsible 
fashion, at all times in keeping with applicable waste management laws, regulations and 
.good waste management practices, and (2) the Company's financial resources to maintain 
the required equipment and to support its indemnity obligations to the District under this 
Agreement. The District has relied on each of these factors, among others, in choosing 
the Company to perform the services to be rendered by the Company under this 
Agreement. 

If the Company requests the District's consideration of, and consent to, an assignment, 
the District may deny or approve such request in its complete discretion. Approval by the 
District, however, of such requested assignment, shall not be unreasonably withheld. It 
shall be the responsibility of the Company, in requesting an assignment, to comply with 
the following requirements: 

11.6.1 The Company shall undertake to pay the District its reasonable expenses for 
attorney's fees and investigation costs necessary to investigate the suitability of 
any proposed assignee, and to review and finalize any documentation required as 
a condition for approving any such assignment; 

Page 72 of I 00 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 59 of 116)



Attachment 1

1 
2 
3 

4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 

23 
24 

25 
26 
27 

28 
29 
30 

31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 

37 
38 
39 
40 

11.6.2 The Company shall furnish the District with audited financial statements of the 
proposed assignee's operations for the immediately preceding three (3) operating 
years; 

11.6.3 The Company shall furnish the District with satisfactory proof: (i) that the 
proposed assignee has at least ten (10) years of solid waste management 
experience on a scale equal or to exceeding the sale of operations conducted by 
the Company under this Agreement; (ii) that in the last five (5) years, the 
proposed assignee has not suffered any significant citations or other censure from 
any federal, state, or local agency having jurisdiction over its waste management 
operations due to any significant failure to comply with state, federal, or local 
waste management laws and that the assignee has provided the District with a 
complete list of such citations and censures; (iii) that the proposed assignee has at 
all times conducted its operations in an environmentally safe and conscientious 
fashion; (iv) that the proposed assignee conducts its solid waste management 
practices in accordance with sound waste management practices in full 
compliance with all federal, state, and locaUaws regulating the collection and 
disposal of waste, including hazardous waste; (v) that the proposed assignee has a 
net worth, liquidity, and debt structure at least as favorable as the Company's; (vi) 
that the proposed managing official of assignee is qualified to supervise assignee's 
operations in performing the Agreement; (vii) of any other information required 
by the District to ensure the proposed assignee can fulfill the terms of this 
Agreement in a timely, safe, and effective manner. 

The Company shall have a reasonable period of time in which to seek approval of 
any assignment occasioned by operation of law. 

Under no circumstances shall the District be obliged to consider any proposed 
assignment by the District if the Company is in default at any time during the 
period of consideration. 

11.6.4 Acquisition costs incurred by assignee in purchasing the Company, or otherwise 
securing assignment of the Agreement, shall be excluded from allowable costs in 
the rate base. 

Nothing in this Agreement is intended to prevent the District from assigning its 
rights and obligations under this Agreement to a joint powers authority organized 
for the purpose of dealing with solid waste management matters on a countywide 
or regional basis. Such an assignment to a joint powers authority, where the 
District is a member agency, may occur without prior written consent of the 
Company. 

If the District requests consideration of and consent to an assignment (other than 
to a joint powers authority which the District is a member), the Company may 
deny or approve such request in its complete discretion. The Company may 
request that the proposed assignee of the District provide such documents, 

Page 73 of 100 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 60 of 116)



Attachment 1

1 
2 

resolutions, and ordinances that may be necessary for the Company to properly 
evaluate assignment to proposed assignee. 

3 
4 

For purposes of this section, the term "proposed assignee" shall refer to the 
proposed transferee(s) or other successor(s) in interest pursuant to the assignment. 

5 11.7 Other Agreements 
6 The Company shall not enter into any agreements subsequent to the within Agreement 
7 that materially interferes with the Company's ability to perform its obligations contained 
8 herein. 

9 Any agreements that the Company proposes to enter into with entities other than the · 
10 District, providing for disposal of Garbage, or for long-term (i.e., over three (3) years) 
11 commitment of wastestream, including Recyclable Materials and Organic Waste, shall be 
12 submitted by the Company to the District for review prior to said agreements becoming 
13 effective. The District may, at its sole discretion, approve or disapprove said agreements, 
14 or approve of said agreements subject to conditions or limitations set by the District. 

15 11.8 Related Party Entities 
16 The Company's accounting records shall be maintained on a basis showing the results of 
17 the Company's operations under this Agreement separately from operations in other 
18 locations, as if the Company were an independent entity providing service only to the 
19 District. The costs and revenues associated with providing service to the District shall 
20 not be combined, consolidated or in any other way incorporated with those of other 
21 operations conducted by the Company in other locations, or with those of related party 
22 entities. 

23 If the Company is owned or controlled by another corporation, then the financial reports 
24 and auditor's opinions required of the Company shall also be required of such "parent 
25 company." 

26 11.9 Subcontracting 
27 The Company shall not engage any subcontractors for Collection or disposal of Garbage 
28 without the prior written consent of the District. In the event of an emergency or other 
29 urgent circumstances (e.g. labor unrest) , the District's consent to subcontracting shall not 
30 be unreasonably withheld. 

31 11.10 Binding on Assigns 
32 The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding on all 
3 3 permitted assigns of the patties. 

34 11.11 Transition to Next Company 
35 If transition of services to another company occurs through expiration of term, default, 
36 termination, or otherwise, the Company will cooperate with the District and subsequent 
37 company(ies) to assist in an orderly transition, which will include Company providing 
38 route lists and billing information. The Company will not be obliged to sell collection 
39 vehicles and Containers to the next company or the District. Depending on the 
40 Company's circumstances at the point of transition, the Company at its option may enter 

Page 74 of 100 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 61 of 116)



October 16, 2017 
Report on Review of Assignment of TRG Agreements to Recology  
Page 1 of 54 
 

 

Section 1: Executive Summary 

1.1   Introduction 
The  cities,  towns,  counties  and  other  agencies  (Agencies)  holding  solid  waste  collection  franchise 
agreements and other agreements  (Agreements) with  the various  subsidiary  companies of The Ratto 
Group, Inc. (TRG) have received requests from TRG to assign the Agreements to Recology Sonoma Marin 
(Recology, a subsidiary of Recology, Inc.).  

TRG and Recology have entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (APA) that involves Recology acquiring 
substantially all of  the assets of TRG,  including  the Agreements as well as all equipment and  facilities 
currently used by TRG to perform services for the Agencies. Unlike a stock purchase, wherein the entire 
company would be purchased and operations taken over under a new name, this asset purchase would 
effectively render TRG without assets to provide services, as those assets would become the property of 
Recology. 

The City of Petaluma has engaged R3 Consulting Group, Inc. (R3)1 to conduct a review of the fitness of 
Recology on behalf of the Agencies in order to establish findings regarding the proposed assignment. This 
review included a thorough assessment of: 

 Assignment provisions and other requirements of available Agreements;  

 Financial  and  operational  information  provided  by  TRG  and  Recology,  and  establishment  of 
findings of the appropriateness of assignment based on our review; and 

 Likely effects of assignment on rates and services for individual agencies.  

It should be made clear that R3 was not able to review the APA as TRG and Recology stated that the APA 
is confidential and would not be provided for review. As a result, R3’s review of the fitness of Recology 
was limited to a review of the vehicle and facility assets subject to the APA and financial and operational 
documents provided by Recology as they relate to Recology’s ability to perform services for the Agencies 
per their respective Agreements.  

1.2   What is the Asset Purchase Agreement (APA)? 
Recology has stated to R3 that they are purchasing all of the assets used by TRG to perform its contractual 
obligations under the Agreements, including the Agreements and the assets listed below. Recology has 
stated that unlike in a traditional business acquisition by way of merger or stock purchase, Recology is not 
acquiring any of the actual subsidiaries of TRG. Moreover, Recology is not acquiring, nor hiring, all of TRG’s 
existing employees. TRG will not be a subsidiary or affiliate of Recology. 

Although R3 was unable to review the APA, Recology listed the following as being included under the APA. 
R3 has requested specifics regarding the items listed below, most of which have been made available. 

 All permits; 

 All franchise agreements; 

                                                 
1   The engagement is under a contractual relationship with the City of Petaluma, to be paid for by TRG per the 

assignment terms of the collection agreement. 

Attachment 2

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 62 of 116)



October 16, 2017 
Report on Review of Assignment of TRG Agreements to Recology  
Page 2 of 54 
 

 

 All other agreements such as transport; 

 All equipment used by TRG and its subsidiaries, including: 

o An estimated 600,000 carts;  

o An estimated 15,000 containers; and  

o Software, spare parts, computers, etc. 

 All motor vehicles used by TRG and its subsidiaries: 

o 238  Collection,  Transfer,  and  Street  Sweeping  Vehicles,  of  which  19  are  subject  to 
immediate replacement by Recology; and 

o 50 Support Vehicles, of which 8 are subject to immediate replacement by Recology. 

 All  materials  handling  equipment,  including  the  Material  Recovery  Facility  located  at  3417 
Standish Avenue; 

 All real property used in the business, including: 

o Transfer Station & Maintenance Facility at 2543 Petaluma Blvd South, Petaluma, CA; 

o Material Recovery Facility at 3417 Standish Avenue, Santa Rosa, CA; 

o Administration & Maintenance Facility and Material Recovery Facility at 3400 Standish 
Avenue, Santa Rosa, CA; 

o Truck Yard at 3284 and 3296 Dutton Ave., Santa Rosa, CA; 

o Commercial bin and debris box storage at 3845 and 3855 Santa Rosa Ave., Santa Rosa; 

o Petaluma ‐ Administration & Maintenance Facility at 1309 Dynamic Street, Petaluma, CA; 
and 

o Novato ‐ Buy Back and HHW (leased) at 7576 Redwood Blvd, Novato, CA. 

It should also be noted that TRG and Recology were required to file a premerger notice to the Federal 
Trade Commission (FTC) pursuant to the Hart‐Scott‐Rodino (HSR) Act. Per the HSR Act, certain proposed 
transactions – such as the Recology APA of TRG – require premerger notification and a waiting period. 
Parties subject to the HSR Act may not close their deal until the waiting period outlined in the HSR Act has 
passed, or the government has granted early termination of the waiting period. The FTC completed an 
early termination notice of the deal on September 15, 2017, with permission for the transaction granted.2 

1.3   What is the Assignment? 
Assignment is the transfer of an agreement’s obligations and benefits from one party to another party. In 
this case, TRG is seeking to assign its obligations and benefits under the Agreements between the Agencies 
and  TRG  to  Recology  Sonoma  Marin,  a  wholly  owned  subsidiary  of  Recology  Inc.  All  current  TRG 
Agreements made available for review require that TRG obtain consent to assign the Agreements for the 
assignment to Recology to be valid.  

The majority of  the Agreements  require TRG  to  furnish  the Agencies with  satisfactory proof  that  the 
proposed assignee (Recology) has refuse management experience on a scale equal to or exceeding the 

                                                 
2    https://www.ftc.gov/enforcement/premerger‐notification‐program/early‐termination‐notices/20171870  

Attachment 2

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 63 of 116)



October 16, 2017 
Report on Review of Assignment of TRG Agreements to Recology  
Page 3 of 54 
 

 

sale of operations conducted by TRG, three to five years of audited financial statements, and any other 
information required by the Agencies to ensure that Recology can fulfill the terms of the Agreements in a 
timely, safe, and effective manner. 

Recology has stated that because they are purchasing all of the assets used by TRG to perform contractual 
obligations, TRG will no  longer be able to perform under the Agreements once the asset purchase has 
been completed because TRG will no longer possess assets needed to perform services. 

1.4  Recology’s Qualifications for Assignment 
Financial and Operational Qualifications 

Section 2 of this Report provides R3’s review of Recology’s audited financial statements as well as a letter 
from Bank of America (Attachment 1) which is Recology’s primary creditor and which reviewed the APA. 
This  is  followed  by  Section  3, which  provides  R3’s  assessment  of  Recology’s  fitness  to  perform  the 
activities  covered  under  the Agreements.  Specifically, we  have  reviewed  Recology’s  qualifications  to 
performs services currently provided by TRG, their performance under current Agreements with other 
jurisdictions, and plans submitted by Recology demonstrating ability to meet terms and conditions of the 
agreements. The general qualification areas reviewed by R3 are as follows: 

 Financial Ability;  

 Collection and Street Sweeping Operations;  

 Safety;  

 Facilities and Environmental Compliance;  

 Customer Service; and 

 References.  

Findings 

Overall,  from an operational and  financial perspective, R3  finds  that Recology  is qualified  to perform 
services required by the Agreements. Specifically, we find that Recology: 

 Understands and is committed to complying with all terms and conditions in the Agreements;  

 Has more than 10 years of solid waste collections experience;  

 Generally operates in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations;3 

                                                 
3   On June 8, 2000, Norcal Waste Systems, Inc. (Norcal), which changed its name to Recology Inc. in 2009, along 

with 21 other entities and individuals, including certain present and former County officials, were named in a 
lawsuit was one of a number of parties regarding a bribery scheme related to waste management contracts and 
services for the County of San Bernardino. Kenneth James Walsh, a vice president of Norcal who was terminated 
by Norcal on August 27, 1999, pleaded guilty to a federal criminal charge of conspiracy to commit bribery and 
was sentenced in 2000 to 18 months in federal prison. The County of San Bernardino, and other County‐related 
entities, filed a civil complaint against Norcal, Walsh, and others alleging a variety of claims including breach of 
fiduciary duty, fraud, and unjust enrichment. Norcal denied that it had engaged in any wrongdoing of any kind 
and,  in particular,  that  it had any  liability  in  connection with  the matter. Norcal entered  into a  settlement 
agreement before trial, which  included a $6,561,000 payment to the County and cancellation of  its contract. 
More  information  about  the  matter  can  be  found  at  http://caselaw.findlaw.com/ca‐court‐of‐
appeal/1490527.html 

Attachment 2

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 64 of 116)



October 16, 2017 
Report on Review of Assignment of TRG Agreements to Recology  
Page 4 of 54 
 

 

 Has an established employee onboarding,  training  and  safety program  that  includes  tracking, 
analyzing, and reporting workers’ compensation, and automobile/general liability safety metrics;  

 Operates its facilities in accordance with State Minimum Standards;4   

 Has a defined plan to manage the aging  fleet and maintain a vehicle replacement schedule to 
reduce the average age down to 7.5 to 9 years (compared to the current average of 13 years); 

 Demonstrates waste  zero  specialist  training and outreach and education materials  to provide 
communities focused resources that address the needs of the Agencies; 

 Has  stated  that  reporting will be provided  in  a  timely manner  and  in  a  format  as  agreed on 
mutually between Recology and each individual Agency; 

 Provides enterprise‐class  tools and adequate processes, staffing, training, and management to 
deliver effective customer service;  

 Was recommended by all but one jurisdiction of the 23 contacted during reference checks;  

 Maintenance tools and overall approach are adequate and incorporate current industry practices; 

 Has  outreach  and  educations  plans  indicating  that  they  will  be  capable  of  performing  all 
Agreement requirements; 

 Is  financially capable of performing  its duties  if assigned the Agreements under consideration. 
Recology’s  financial health  is within expectations  for  solid waste  companies of  its  size, which 
should allow it access to sufficient lines of credit which may be used in performing services under 
the Agreements; 

 Has approximated their capital investment outlay at $60 Million in 2018 for replacing vehicles and 
collection containers. Per Bank of America, Recology has access to over $580 Million of available 
liquidity for direct borrowing, subject to certain conditions. Recology is in good standing with Bank 
of America and is in compliance with all covenants related to its credit;  

 Obligations from the acquisition of TRG’s assets, Agreement revenues, and operations represents 
an approximate 13% growth in company size for Recology, which will be a company with over $1 
Billion in annual revenue post‐assignment; and 

 Estimated 2018 Recology overall net profits are within the range of Recology’s  five‐year profit 
trend based on  the combination of revenues and expenses  from Recology and TRG, escalated 
conservatively  and  in  keeping with  prior  trends,  and  including moderate  assumptions  about 
changes in revenues and expenses in 2018. 

1.5   Potential Impacts of Assignment 
Based on statements and information provided by Recology, as well as our professional assessment of the 
asset  purchase  and  assignment  of  the  Agreements,  it  is  clear  that  Recology will  be  requesting  rate 
increases in the near future. Reasons that we expect rate increases to be imminent include: 

                                                 
4   Limited permit violations documented  in our analysis are commonplace among facility operators throughout 

the State.  

Attachment 2

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 65 of 116)



October 16, 2017 
Report on Review of Assignment of TRG Agreements to Recology  
Page 5 of 54 
 

 

 Higher  cost  of  operations  due  to  need  for  new  trucks,  containers,  and  other  equipment  (in 
addition  to  the  assets  being  purchased  from  TRG)  to  fulfill  the  terms  and  conditions  of  the 
Agreements, especially in the case of Agreements whose terms are not currently being met;  

 Higher cost of  labor resulting from a collective bargaining agreement  (CBA) between Recology 
and Teamsters Local 665; and 

 Recology has stated that it intends to present rate increase requests to Agencies as soon as six 
months after the TRG purchase is completed. 

Though Agencies should expect to receive a request for rate  increases  in the near future,  it should be 
noted that most Agencies are not obligated to consider or accept rate increase requests except under 
specific conditions  (with  the specifics and  timelines varying by Agency). Additionally,  though Agencies 
should anticipate rate increases in the near future, neither Recology nor R3 is presently able to provide 
accurate estimates of the magnitude of likely increases. 

Seven  of  the  Agreements  (Cloverdale,  Cotati,  Healdsburg,  Marin  County,  Novato  Sanitary  District, 
Petaluma, and Rohnert Park) include a detailed rate review provision, meaning that (for those agencies) 
Recology may submit a detailed rate application demonstrating actual and forecasted costs and revenues 
from operations and providing detailed justification for a rate increase request.  

Under these provisions, Agencies have the ability to conduct a detailed review of the rate application, 
make adjustments to the rate application to ensure that costs are reasonable and appropriate, and then 
consider adjustments to rates. In some cases, Agencies may deny the entire request at their full discretion. 
A more detailed analysis of the applicable Agreement terms for each Agency (as made available to R3) is 
in Section 4 of this Report. 

1.6  Next Steps 
Agencies should anticipate next steps for assignment as described below. R3 is available to work with each 
Agency individually to assist in any of the following areas: 

 Reviewing Agency specific assignment details; 

 Preparing Agreement amendments; 

 Participating in Agency meetings related to the assignment request;  

 Overseeing transition activities;  

 Conducting operational performance reviews; and 

 Reviewing additional requests (i.e., rate increases, route changes, etc.). 

Prior  to  accepting  an  assignment  each  individual  Agency  should  confirm  that  all  prerequisites  for 
assignment of their Agreement have been met as stipulated by their Agreement, commonly including but 
not limited to: 

 Any payments required to be made (often inclusive of staff time spent evaluating TRG’s request 
for assignment and other reasonable expenses); 

 Those requirements that have been reviewed by R3 and findings reported via this Report; and 

 Those requirements that may not have been reviewed by R3, as applicable. 

Agencies should prepare: 

Attachment 2

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 66 of 116)



October 16, 2017 
Report on Review of Assignment of TRG Agreements to Recology  
Page 6 of 54 
 

 

 Staff report for Council understanding of assignment; 

 Council resolution accepting, denying, or deferring TRG’s request for assignment; and 

 If  assignment  is  to  be  approved,  an  amendment  to  the  applicable  Agreement  accepting 
assignment, adjusting company name as appropriate, and any other prerequisites to assignment 
of  agreement  as  determined  by Agency  (including  provisions  in  the Agreement  that  refer  to 
insurance provisions, as Recology is self‐insured). 

Should  Agencies  choose  to  accept  the  assignment  of  the  Agreements  to  Recology,  Recology  will 
commence transition activities, which are described in Section 6 (Transition Activities After Assignment); 
Section 6 also includes additional considerations for the Agencies relating to assignment. 

1.7  Limitations 
The  following  sections of  this Report, and our  findings, were compiled based on  the  information and 
documents listed in each of the following sections. Neither Recology nor TRG provided us access to the 
APA, and our findings are limited by lack of access to this information. While we were able to review the 
truck  list  and  replacement  schedule,  insufficient  information  exists  in order  to determine how many 
containers in service will require replacement due to incorrect color, incorrect or inadequate labeling, or 
non‐functionality; therefore, the financial scale of container replacement was not evaluated. 

Additionally,  it  should be noted  that while  this Report presents overall  findings  regarding Recology’s 
fitness for assignment of Agencies’ Agreements, it does not comprise of the entirety of the due diligence 
necessary for review of assignment, elements of which must be conducted by each individual Agency. R3 
is available to review those specific items as requested on an individual basis with the Agencies

Attachment 2

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 67 of 116)



August 18, 2017 

Novato Sanitary District 
500 Davidson Street 
Novato, CA 94945 
Attn: Sandeep Karkal 

Re: Request for Consent to Assignment 
A&R Solid Waste Collection, Processing, Diversion and Disposal Agreement between 
Novato Disposal Service, Inc. (“Contractor”) and Novato Sanitary District (the 
“Agreement”) 

Dear Sandeep, 

We wish to inform you that North Bay Corporation (“NBC”), Contractor’s parent corporation, 
and their affiliated companies have entered into an agreement to sell substantially all of their 
assets to Recology Inc. and its designated affiliates, who will continue NBC’s operations (the 
“Transaction”).  

The purpose of this letter is to request that the Novato Sanitary District provide its consent for 
NBC to assign the Agreement to Recology Sonoma Marin, a subsidiary of Recology Inc.  Upon 
the assignment of the Agreement, Recology Sonoma Marin will be subject to the applicable 
terms and conditions of the Agreement and will continue to perform the obligations thereunder. 

Time is of the essence in obtaining a response to this request, accordingly, please do not hesitate 
to contact Ed Farewell, Recology Sonoma Marin’s Vice President & Group Manager, at 707-
695-2726, or Rick Powell, NBC’s General Manager, at 707-775-9707 regarding this matter.  
NBC and Recology look forward to working with the Novato Sanitary District on assigning the 
Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. 

Your consent will become effective as of the closing of the Transaction and will have no effect 
unless the closing of the Transaction occurs. We expect the Transaction to close in October 
2017.   

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 68 of 116)

Attachment 3



NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 69 of 116)

Attachment 3



8/25/2017 

Novato Sanitary District 
500 Davidson Street 
Novato, CA 94945 
Attn: Sandeep Karkal 

Re: Assignment of A&R Solid Waste Collection, Processing, Diversion and Disposal Agreement 
between Novato Disposal Service, Inc. (“Contractor”) and Novato Sanitary District (the 
“Agreement”) to Recology Sonoma Marin  

Dear Sandeep: 

Thank you for your consideration of The Ratto Group’s request to assign the the Novato Sanitary 
District’s Solid Waste Collection, Processing, Diversion and Disposal Agreement to Recology Sonoma 
Marin (Recology), submitted last Friday August 18th.   

As stated in the request letter, Recology is acquiring substantially all of the assets of The Ratto Group 
(the Transaction).  The following sections provide responses to the assignment requirements described 
in Section 11.6 of the Agreement.     

If you need more information regarding this Transaction or Recology, please feel free to contact Meghan 
Butler, Corporate Development Manager, at (415) 572-6116 or mbutler@recology.com. 

Attorney’s Fees and Investigation Costs 
As the seller of the assets under this Transaction, The Ratto Group will cover the District’s attorney’s 
fees and investigation costs, pending further determination between The Ratto Group and the District’s 
representative.   

Audited Financial Statements 
During its Fiscal Year 2016, Recology Inc. (the parent company of Recology Sonoma Marin) recorded 
over $960 million in revenue.   

Recology Inc.’s financial statements are audited annually by KPMG.  Further financial information can be 
provided upon request.  Please be advised that any financial information provided herein and in the 
future may contain competitively sensitive information and information that constitutes a trade secret 
under California law.  Accordingly, they are exempt from disclosure under the California Public Records 
Act.  Attached to this letter are Recology’s audited financial statements for the preceding three (3) 
operating years. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 70 of 116)

Attachment 4

mailto:mbutler@recology.com


Recology’s Solid Waste Experience  
Recology Inc.’s predecessors have been serving Bay Area communities since the 1920s.  Over the years, 
Recology Inc. has grown to become the largest 100% employee-owned company in the solid waste 
collection and processing industries, with over 3,000 employees.   

Recology Inc. is the parent to over 40 subsidiaries – including Recology Sonoma Marin.  These 
subsidiaries provide integrated service to over 700,000 households and 100,000 commercial businesses 
in California, Oregon, and Washington.  The company also owns and operates a number of facilities, 
including:    

 13 Transfer Stations

 11 Material Recovery Facilities (MRFs)

 10 Organic Processing Facilities

 3 Landfills

A few of the municipalities that currently receive collection and/or processing service from Recology Inc. 
operating companies include: 

 The City and County of San Francisco (since 1932)

 The 12 jurisdictions of the South Bayside Waste Management Authority (SBWMA), which
includes Cities of Burlingame, San Mateo, Foster City, San Carlos, Belmont, Redwood City, Menlo
Park, and East Palo Alto, the Towns of Hillsborough and Atherton, the West Bay Sanitary District,
and the County of San Mateo (since 2011)

 The City of Seattle (since 2009)

 The City of San Bruno (since 1958)

 The City of Mountain View (since the 1930s)

 The City of Pacifica (since 1976)

In 1996, Recology pioneered the nation’s first comprehensive, curbside organics collection program in 
the City of San Francisco.  The program comingles food scraps with yard trimmings, and has become a 
model for organics collection throughout the nation.  Recology has since launched organics collection 
programs in numerous cities, including the cities that comprise the 12 jurisdictions of the SBWMA, 
Cupertino, Pacifica, and San Bruno.  Whenever Recology launches a new organics program, the rollout is 
tailored to the unique needs of the customer.   

In 2001, Recology transitioned over 150,000 single- and multi-family households in San Francisco to a 
cart-based, single-stream recycling program.  The program, called the “Fantastic Three” after the color-
coded carts, has since been replicated by many California communities, and is widely recognized as a 
model for the nation.  The cart-based single-stream system maximizes voluntary source-separation and 
diversion efforts. 

Recology partners closely with the municipalities it serves to meet diversion goals.  This entails 
developing tailored outreach and education programs, coupled with the proper technical assistance to 
help customers participate in diversion programs.   

Performance 
Recology Sonoma Marin is a newly-created operating company of Recology Inc.; therefore, Recology 
Sonoma Marin has not received any citation, fine, penalty, censure of other sanction from any local, 
state, federal, or local government agency.    

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 71 of 116)

Attachment 4



Recology Inc. is the parent company to numerous subsidiaries providing resource recovery services in 
California, Oregon, and Washington.  Across all California subsidiaries, Recology Inc. has 41 facilities that 
are subject to environmental inspections.  The company utilizes a comprehensive environmental 
management system to support compliance with permits, laws, codes, and regulations.  From time to 
time, in the normal course of business, Recology and its subsidiaries are subject to various regulatory 
inspections and actions which can result in violations or citations.  Recology’s policy and business 
practice is to respond to and resolve these matters in a timely manner. 

Instances where significant citations have been issued over the last 5 years are provided in the table 
below.  In each case, Recology has worked, or is working, closely with the regulatory agency to address 
all concerns to the satisfaction of the agency. 

Subsidiary Regulatory 
Agency or 

Entity 

Violation 
Type 

Date Description Corrective Action Fines or 
Penalties 

Recology 
Yuba Sutter 

Regional 
Water Quality 
Control Board 

Administrative 
Civil  Liability 
Complaint 

Jan-20-
15 

Non-discharge 
violation for 
overtopping of 
stormwater tanks. 

New aboveground 
storage system 
installed. 

$440,000 

Recology 
Yuba Sutter 

Regional 
Water Quality 
Control Board 

Cleanup and 
Abatement 
Order 

Dec-22-
14 

Required site 
improvements, 
including repaving 
and repair of 
drainage lines. 

Site 
improvements 
completed. 

None 

Recology 
Blossom 
Valley 
Organics - 
NorthGro 

Regional 
Water Quality 
Control Board 

Notice of Non-
Compliance 

Nov-25-
14 

Site not covered 
under stormwater 
industrial permit. 

Notice of Intent 
filed for coverage 
under general 
industrial permit. 

 None 

Recology 
Hay Road 

Regional 
Water Quality 
Control Board 

Section 13301 
Order 

Oct-16-
14 

Required 
submittal of 
technical reports 
for both the 
landfill and 
compost 
operations. 

Submitted 
required technical 
reports (ongoing). 

 None 

Recology 
Yuba Sutter 

Regional 
Water Quality 
Control Board 

Cleanup and 
Abatement 
Order 

Aug-29-
13 

Release of 
contaminants to 
vadose zone and 
ground water and 
impacts to closed 
landfill from 
current 
operations.  

Expanded landfill 
gas collection 
system, improved 
grading and storm 
water conveyance 
system and 
installed compost 
area leachate 
collection system. 

 None  

Cummings 
Road Burn 
Dump 

Regional 
Water Quality 
Control Board 

Cleanup and 
Abatement 
Order 

Apr-26-
13 

Required 
remediation of 
historical  burn 
ash dump. 

Remediation 
completed. 

 None 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 72 of 116)

Attachment 4



Environmental Compliance  
Recology seeks to offer safe collection services to all of its communities in a way that minimizes impact 
on the environment.  All operating companies follow Recology’s comprehensive Environmental 
Compliance Program.   

The goal of the Program is to ensure the Recology Sonoma Marin Material Recovery Facility and all 
collection operations comply with applicable environmental permits, laws, codes, and regulations.  
Under the Program, the Environmental Compliance Manager monitors operations using a combination 
of checklists and audits, and works directly with local and state regulators on environmental compliance 
activities.  

The Environmental Compliance Manager directly reports to Recology’s Corporate Environmental 
Manager, and works closely with Recology’s well-established and dedicated network of trained 
environmental health and safety personnel.    

Recology tracks regulations, permits, and environmental activities using a custom-made, proprietary 
software system called the Recology Online Compliance Tracker (ROCT).  ROCT enables Recology to 
systematically monitor and report data on environmental trends at its facilities.   

ROCT also records regulatory agency inspections.  Any inspection violation or area of concern is 
documented in the system, with a description of how the issue will be addressed.  The Environmental 
Compliance Manager can assign due dates to staff for each activity, helping Recology make progress 
towards its “zero violations” goal.   

To support the Environmental Compliance Program, Recology provides trainings to help employees 
comply with the program (as applicable to their job functions).   

The Environmental Compliance Manager and key operations positions (including managers, supervisors, 
and maintenance staff) receive training on the following topics, as applicable to their job functions.  
Please note this is not a comprehensive list of all environmental trainings provided: 

 Asbestos Awareness, including an annual refresher training

 Hazardous Waste Operations and Emergency Response (HAZWOPER), as set by the guidelines of
the Occupational Safety and Health Administration

 Load Check Policy, identifying any contamination of hazardous materials in a given load

 Spill Prevention Control & Countermeasures (SPCC)  training

 Stormwater Sampling

 Use of the Recology Online Compliance Tracker (ROCT) system

 Underground Storage Tank training, including tank monitoring system training and
spill/overflow response

To conduct these trainings, Recology uses corporate-sponsored training courses, as well as attendance 
at professional environmental conferences and other external training courses. 

Compliance with Local Law 
Recology’s solid waste management operations comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws 
and regulations governing the collection, transportation, processing, and disposal of solid waste, 
recyclable materials, and compostable materials.  Recology does not dispose or process any hazardous 
substances, other than for household hazardous waste (HHW) at our permitted HHW facilities. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 73 of 116)

Attachment 4



Net Worth, Liquidity, and Debt Structure  
As can be seen from the provided financial statements, Recology has a net worth, liquidity, and debt 
structure at least as favorable as Company’s. If you have any further questions regarding this matter, 
please do not hesitate to reach out. 

Management Team  
Recology Sonoma Marin’s day to day operations will be overseen by Fred Stemmler, General Manager.  

Fred will work directly with Ed Farewell, the Vice President and Group Manager for Recology’s Coast 
Group, to ensure the operations are performed in accordance to the Agreement. 

Fred and Ed’s experience is described below.  

Ed Farewell 
Vice President and Group Manager, Recology’s Coast Group 

Ed joined Recology in 1983.  Since 2012, he has served as Group Manager at Recology’s Northern 
California Group.   Ed directs the operation of a variety of recycling, organics, and solid waste 
management services.  He is responsible for ensuring efficiency and quality service in materials 
recovery, recycling, residential, commercial & industrial waste collection, and compactor service for the 
residents, businesses and public entities within Recology’s Northern California collection companies 

Ed possesses over 34 years of experience in the refuse business, including positions as general manager, 
operations manager, and materials recovery facility manager.  At Recology, he has served as Assistant 
Group Manager at Recology Vacaville Solano from 2011 to 2012, General Manager at Recology Vallejo 
from 2010 to 2011, and General Manager at Recology Vacaville Solano from 2004 through 2010.   

In addition, Ed has served on the board of a number of community organizations, including the Vallejo 
Chamber of Commerce (2010 to 2011) and the Vacaville Museum (2008 through 2011).  Ed holds a 
Bachelor’s of Science from California State University at Sacramento. 

Fred Stemmler 
General Manager, Recology Sonoma Marin 

As the General Manager of Recology Sonoma Marin operations, Fred will plan, direct, and evaluate all 
aspects of Recology’s organics, recyclables, and solid waste collection programs to ensure safe, efficient, 
and high-quality service is provided to all customers. 

Fred is currently the General Manager of Recology Western Oregon, and is experienced in running top-
notch collection, processing and diversion based operations, while creating effective and collaborative 
public education programs and services, including the start-up of an Artist in Residence Program. 

Prior to becoming General Manager in 2012, Fred held several key positions with Recology, including 
Operations Manager at Recology Vacaville Solano and Recology Sunset Scavenger, and Financial 
Compliance Manager for the Recology Corporate Finance and Accounting Department. Since joining 
Recology in 2008, Fred graduated from two internal leadership programs and participated in long term 
strategic planning and development committees that focused on business process improvement and 
excellence in service.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 74 of 116)

Attachment 4



NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 75 of 116)

Attachment 4



Attachment 5

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 76 of 116)



Attachment 5

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 77 of 116)



Attachment 5

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 78 of 116)



Attachment 5

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 79 of 116)



RECOLOGY SONOMA MARIN TRANSITION PLAN 
FOR NOVATO SANITARY DISTRICT 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 80 of 116)

Attachment 6



Transition Plan
Included in this plan is Recology Sonoma Marin’s responses to the items raised in Novato Sanitary 
District’s letter dated September 28, 2017, as well as Recology’s detailed transition plan for Novato 
Sanitary District’s service area and the related agreement. For ease of reading, Recology has provided an 
overview the company’s transition experience, followed by sections of information pertaining the items 
raised in the letter and subsequent meetings held at the District on October, 3rd, 2017. 

With any new service implementation, Recology’s goal is to ensure a smooth transition that minimizes 
disruption to customers.  Recology’s implementation team for the District understands the unique 
needs of the Agreement, and has tailored the following transition plan for the District and its customers.  

Recology Transition Experience  
Recology Inc. (the parent company of Recology 
Sonoma Marin) is a regional company locally-
based in San Francisco.  With approximately 3,300 
employee-owners in California, Oregon, and 
Washington, Recology Inc. can supply a strong 
team of experienced managers and supervisors to 
assist with the contract transition.  These 
managers and supervisors will assist with 
employee training, program implementation, 
procurement, and other duties to meet the needs 
of the transition.   

Recology operating companies have been involved in several major transitions in recent years, and are 
ready to offer their expertise to guide the Novato Sanitary District transition:  

 In 2011, Recology San Mateo County initiated services for the 12 jurisdictions of the South
Bayside Waste Management Authority (SBWMA) in central and southern San Mateo County.
The transition was recognized by industry experts as one of the largest of its kind in the United
States, encompassing over 93,000 residential and 10,000 commercial and multi-family (MFD)
customers.

 In 2009, Recology CleanScapes transitioned services for approximately half of the City of Seattle,
marking the largest single-day transition in the region.  Collection was transitioned for all three
material streams – garbage, recycling, and organics.

 In 2001, Recology’s San Francisco collection companies transitioned over 150,000 single- and
multi-family households to a cart-based, single-stream recycling program.  The program, called
the “Fantastic Three” after the color-coded carts, has since been replicated by many California
communities, and is widely recognized as a model for the nation.

Employee On-Boarding and Training 
Following the completion of all contract assignments and the close of the acquisition with The Ratto 
Group (TRG), Recology will re-hire current and eligible TRG employees as full time Recology team 
members.  By purchasing TRG’s company assets and hiring the existing employees, Recology aims to 
ensure continuity in service during the transition.  This transition also presents an opportunity to revisit 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 81 of 116)

Attachment 6



critical and fundamental training to increase operational efficiencies and safety, and set high customer 
service standards. 

Safety and service are the keys to Recology’s success since 1920, and our training programs will ensure a 
smooth, safe and effective transition for our team members and the communities we serve.  Recology 
has developed customized training programs for its collection service employees, customer service staff, 
and Waste Zero staff.  Below is an overview of these training programs: 

Driver Training:  All Recology drivers receive training in 
the operation of Recology equipment and the unique 
aspects of the collection program.  Training is provided in 
the classroom and in the vehicle.  Topics include: 

 Recology CORE On-boarding, to welcome and
integrate new employees into Recology’s culture.
During this segment, drivers are taught about
their job roles and expectations, as well as
Recology’s culture and values.

 Customer service training:  This training explores
the differences between basic customer service
versus excellent customer service, and how every interaction with a customer is an experience
and it should be positive and memorable.  Drivers will learn methods to maintain
professionalism when faced with difficult customers, and tips on how to resolve issues on their
routes.

 Franchise training:  During this session, drivers are taught general collection protocols to meet
the requirements of the collection service agreement.

 Contamination training:  This training, delivered by a Recology Waste Zero Team member,
teaches drivers how to identify and document contaminated containers.  Drivers will be trained
on the procedures for tagging contaminated containers and using the on-board computer
system to track contaminated loads.

 Maintenance training:  This training teaches drivers their responsibilities for daily vehicle
maintenance inspections.

 Dispatch Operations training:  This training guides drivers through their Route Manual, which
answers questions that a driver may have regarding their position and route responsibilities.
Drivers can use the Route Manual as a frame of reference for specific job responsibilities, route
practices and route expectations.

 Safety and Equipment Overview:  This program guides drivers through the requirements of
Recology’s safety training program, to ensure compliance with regulations and industry best
practices.

 Truck Training and Obstacle Course:  The majority of Recology’s driver on-boarding program is
spent in the trucks, actively educating drivers on their use of the vehicles to ensure safety,
efficiency, and customer service are top-of-mind as they perform their day-to-day job duties.

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 82 of 116)

Attachment 6



Customer Service Specialist Training:  Recology invests in the development of Customer Service 
Specialists (CSSs) through a comprehensive training program, covering:  

 Recology CORE On-boarding, to welcome and integrate new employees into Recology’s culture.
During this segment, CSSs are taught about their job roles and expectations, as well as
Recology’s culture and values.

 Creating Memorable Customer Service:  The goal of this training is to educate the CSS on
Recology’s customer base, the services Recology provides, and the CSS’s role in delivering
excellent service.

 Franchise Training:  Franchise Training teaches the CSSs general protocols related to the
agreement

 Technical Training Elements:  The Technical Training portion covers the majority of the CSS
training program. During these weeks, the CSSs learn the practical, technical skills they need to
work with the Recology Customer Relationship Management System (RCRM) database.

 Contamination Training Delivered by an experienced Recology Waste Zero Specialist, the
Contamination Training will teach CSSs on the proper procedures for identifying and
documenting accounts with contamination.

 In-Field Ride-Along with a Driver:  Communication between customer service, operations, and
the route driver is vital to ensure customer
needs are met.  Therefore, Recology CSSs will
go on a ride-along with a driver to observe field
conditions and better understand how their
role relates to customers and collection
operations.

Waste Zero Specialist Training:  Recology invests in the 
development of Waste Zero Specialists (WZS) through a 
comprehensive training program, covering: 

 Recology CORE On-boarding, to welcome and
integrate new employees into Recology’s
culture.   During this segment, WZSs are taught about their job roles and expectations, as well as
Recology’s culture and values.

 Customer Service Training:  The WZSs will then complete a training titled “Creating Memorable
Customer Service,” delivered by the Customer Service Manager.  The goal of this training is to
educate the WZSs on Recology’s customer base, the services Recology provides, and their role in
delivering excellent service.

 Outreach and Education Material Overview:  The WZSs will receive focused training on the types
of outreach materials available to teach customers about their programs and services. Please
see the document titled “Novato - Public Education and Outreach Plan” for more details about
the specific plans for outreach and education to the Novato Sanitary District service area.

 Franchise Training:  During this session, WZSs are taught the protocols related to the agreement.

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 83 of 116)

Attachment 6



 Contamination Training:  Delivered by an experienced Recology WZS, the Contamination
Training teaches employees how to identify and document contaminated containers.

 Facilities Tours:  The WZSs will receive tours of the processing facilities, to better understand
this fundamental aspect of the diversion process.

 Developing Presentation Skills:  This training will provide the WZSs the tools they need to deliver
hands-on presentations to an array of organizations, including homeowners’ associations,
business groups, environmental organizations, and schools.

 Conducting Waste Audits:  During this training, WZS will be taught how to analyze a particular
customer’s material stream, with a focus on the diversion opportunities available to customers
by business type.

 Providing On-Site Technical Assistance:  This training will teach WZS the various types of
Technical Assistance and training they will provide customers related to Recology’s programs
and the District’s diversion goals.

 Reporting and Technical Requirements:  This segment of the On-Boarding Program will teach the
WZSs about the reporting requirements and their role in meeting those reporting needs

 Recology in the Community:  During this on-boarding component, the WZSs will meet with a
Recology Ownership Communication Committee (ROCC) Representative and a Recology
Volunteer Liaison to learn more about Recology’s dedication to the community

 Supervisor and Driver Ride-Alongs:  During this component of training, the WZSs will ride with a
Supervisor and/or Driver, to get an overview of the service area, the routes, and their
responsibilities to support diversion goals.

Diversion Plans 
Recology has excellent success in meeting diversion goals and requirements made in partnership with 
the communities served. Recology’s mission represents a fundamental shift from traditional waste 
management  - recovering more recyclables to be repurposed into new products and transforming 
organics to nutrient-rich soil amendments.   

To support diversion goals, Recology offers dedicated Waste Zero Specialists.  These individuals will be 
Recology’s diversion liaisons in the community, responsible for tasks Recology can offer such as:       

 Offering comprehensive, multi-faceted outreach to all customers, tailored to resident and
business type

 Coordinating and producing education events, including educational efforts in schools.

 Supporting local community service organizations

 Offering technical assistance to help all customers implement services and optimize diversion,
including on-site training for businesses

 Outreach to homeowners’ associations, business groups, multi-family tenants, and
environmental organizations

 Conducting site visits to educate customers on diversion goals, contamination concerns, and
new programs

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 84 of 116)

Attachment 6



 On-site waste audits to help customers divert more material from the MSW stream and
minimize contamination in the recycling and organics stream

The following sections provide an overview of the diversion programs, targeting each customer stream 
and material type.  More information related to Recology’s education and outreach philosophies and 
materials can be found in the “Novato – Public Education and Outreach Plan.” All outreach materials for 
Novato Sanitary District are tailored to the District’s needs and franchise agreement so that each 
customer is receiving information specific to their service area. 

Single-Family Recycling Program 
Recology offers many programs that contribute to higher diversion. Some of those programs could 
include working with the District and its residents to launch a Green Block Leader Program, which has 
been a successful tool to promote diversion programs among single-family residents in other Recology 
service areas.  The program educates residents and encourages the, to become local advocates of their 
diversion programs.  Recology staff attends the neighborhood gatherings hosted by the Green Block 
Leaders to educate residents on their programs and services.  This personal and local approach is an 
effective way to encourage single-family customers to increase their 
diversion efforts.   

Single-Family Organics Program  
To help customers participate in the organics collection program, 
Recology’s educational outreach focuses on parsing the topic of “food 
scraps recycling” into manageable customer “behaviors” that would 
make the change easier for residents.  Recology would set a measurable 
goal, determine barriers and benefits, and then develop a strategy and 
messaging.  

To implement an outreach campaign, Recology would utilize a variety of 
communications channels, such as program brochures, public events, 
media, and community groups (such as the Green Block Leader Program 
described in the “Single-Family Recycling Program” above).  By using a focused, integrated approach, the 
District and Recology would hope to see an increase in participation in the food scrap program over 
time. 

Multi-Family Recycling Program  
This program, led by the Waste Zero Specialists, is designed to help increase recycling participation 
among multi-family customers.   

Recology has offered recycling services in urban environments for decades, and has found that multi-
family complexes often have varying levels of participation.  Small multi-family complexes (typically four 
to six units) are often more consistent with recycling participation.  Larger complexes, however, face a 
different set of challenges to achieving diversion, including:   

 Tenant turnover, which requires frequent and consistent messaging, outreach, and education to
stay on diversion targets.

 Off-site and/or disengaged property managers who are reluctant to support diversion programs.

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 85 of 116)

Attachment 6



 Garbage chutes, which can discourage tenants from successful source-separation.

 Space constraints, which can impact the ability to offer containers for three material streams.

Recology’s Multi-Family Recycling Outreach Program can address these obstacles through a variety of 
outreach and education efforts.  To encourage recycling participation, Recology can: 

 Partner with homeowners’ associations, resident organizations, and property managers to
educate tenants on available programs.

 Offer specialized outreach and education material. Recology aims to increase tenant
participation in recycling programs by providing easy-to-use tools and informative education
pieces.

 Conduct comprehensive, on-site waste audits to maximize recycling participation and minimize
contamination.

 Recommend service level changes and container placement to optimize participation.

 Suggest additional equipment, if necessary.  This could include compactors for buildings with
space constraints, or helping to find creative solutions to accommodate container placement for
three material streams, such as the Tote bags noted in section 4.4.2 of the Agreement.

Multi-Family Organics Program  
Recology is available to work with the District to offer programs that aim to help multi-family customers 
adopt organics collection.  Under these types of programs, the Waste Zero Specialists can offer multi-
family properties comprehensive waste audits and tailored outreach and education specific to 
implementing organics programs at their properties.  These programs could include:  

 Comprehensive, on-site waste audits to maximize organics participation and minimize
contamination.

 Partnerships with homeowners’ associations, resident organizations, and property managers to
educate tenants on organics.

 Organics 101 Workshops, led by a Recology Waste Zero Specialist.  The Workshop:
 Discusses the materials accepted in the complex’s organics program
 Educates residents on the environmental benefits of composting, including the reduction in

greenhouse gas emissions at the landfill, and nutrient-rich compost that is created from
their food scraps

 Provides details on steps to participate in the program
 Provides an array of educational material

Commercial Recycling Program  
Recology can also offer programs that aim to help commercial customers see their blue recycling 
carts/bins as a primary container for diversion.  The program focuses on bringing high-volume 
generators into compliance early on, while ramping up diversion efforts thereafter. 

 Step 1:  Recology’s Waste Zero Specialists reach out to commercial accounts that generate eight
yards of MSW or more per week to maximize their recycling levels.  Accounts producing large

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 86 of 116)

Attachment 6



amounts of MSW typically have greater recycling opportunities that have not yet been realized, 
and will be encouraged to adjust their service levels to capture more recycling.  

 Step 2:  The program’s threshold will be expanded to capture a greater array of accounts.
Customers who produce four to seven yards of MSW per week can then receive outreach from
the Waste Zero Team to encourage greater recycling adoption.

 Step 3:  Adjust program to encompass all commercial customers with low diversion levels. These
customers will be identified through service level analysis conducted by the Waste Zero Team.

Recology’s Waste Zero Specialists can also conduct waste audits and tailored outreach during the 
various phases of the Recycling Outreach Program.  The waste audits analyze a particular customer’s 
material stream, with a focus on the diversion options available to customers by business type.  The 
assessments include:    

 Verification of Services:  The Waste Zero Specialist will document container sizes, quantity, and
bin descriptions (such as bin numbers and specifications).

 Assessment:  Taking into account the total volume of material, the Waste Zero Specialist will
evaluate the percentage in each category: organic, recycling, and solid waste.

 Follow up with customer:  The customer will be notified of the assessment results and any
service level recommendations.

After the customer agrees to implement the assessment recommended changes, the Waste Zero 
Specialist may: 

 Work with Recology’s Operations and Customer Service departments to implement service level
changes.

 Recommend additional equipment, if necessary.  This could include compactors for buildings
with space constraints, or helping to find creative solutions to accommodate container
placement for three material streams.

 Provide Public Educational Tools:  Posters, flyers, brochures, and internal containers.

 Provide further educational material, presentations, and on-site training for employees.
Commercial Organics Program  
Recology can offer programs that help commercial customers 
implement organics collection programs, helping customers to 
comply with AB 1826 and increase their overall diversion rates to 
help achieve the District’s goals.  The messaging of the 
Commercial Organics Program can be communicated to customers 
alongside the messaging of the Commercial Recycling Program, 
helping customers embrace the concept of a three-material 
stream sorting system.   

Similar to the Commercial Recycling Outreach Program, the 
Organics Program can also include waste audits (conducted in 
tandem with the Commercial Recycling Program waste audits) and 
educational outreach to optimize organics participation.  The 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 87 of 116)

Attachment 6



Program features several different components designed to achieve higher diversion levels throughout 
the Agreement:  

 Step 1:  The Waste Zero Team can reach out to commercial customers that are estimated to
generate four yards or more of organics per week to ensure they are participating in organics
service and complying with the requirements of AB 1826.  The Team will help customers identify
organics diversion opportunities and optimize participation.

 Step 2:  The program will be expanded to customers who produce four yards or more of MSW
per week, complying with AB 1826.

 Step 3: The program will focus on customers with a overall low diversion levels.

Outreach and Education 
Recology will distribute and publish a variety of communications to the District’s residents and 
businesses throughout the transition and service calendar. Effective outreach programs and campaigns 
not only educate customers on the services available, but also foster positive customer relations and 
interest in recycling and diversion programs. The intent of these communications will be to concurrently 
provide necessary program information and foster a sense of excitement around available diversion 
priorities and options. 

Announcement of New Services and Subscription Mailer  
Recology will prepare and distribute an initial mailing to customers explaining the change from the 
existing collection company to the services provided by Recology.  Different announcements will be 
tailored to single-family, multi-family, and commercial customers.  Contents could include:   

 Information on billing and payment options

 Website URL

 Description of the collection programs

 Links to posters, flyers, and other downloadable documents online

 Guidance on setting up account access online

 Tips on improving recycling and composting

Collection Days  
Recology does not anticipate any change in collection days, but in the event that a change in collection 
day occurs, Recology will notify impacted customers.  Announcements will be tailored to single-family, 
multi-family, and commercial customers, as applicable, and may include automated robocalls, post 
cards, or other print material.   

Multi-Family and Commercial Posters  
Recology will design and distribute posters to multi-family and commercial property managers for on-
site use, illustrating the recyclable materials collection program and the commercial food scrap 
collection program, as applicable to program participants.   

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 88 of 116)

Attachment 6



These posters are designed to educate program participants on proper sorting.  Below are examples of 
Recology’s successful commercial posters provided to businesses in San Mateo County.  Similar designs 
will be made for Recology Sonoma Marin customers. 

Press Release  
Recology will prepare and distribute public service announcements (PSAs) for local radio and cable 
television broadcasts, as well as advertisements and press releases for local newspapers, the website, 
and other community groups.   

Contacting Recology 
Recology will maintain the current customer service telephone number, and the current website will be 
redirected to the new Recology website which is specific for the Novato Sanitary District service area.  
This will help minimize customer confusion during the service transition.   

Recology will regularly update the District on the status of the transition, and looks forward to 
collaborating with the District on outreach activities (described above) and educational efforts.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 89 of 116)

Attachment 6



Management of Vehicles and Equipment 

Fleet, Carts and Containers 
Recology understands that a smooth transition for all utilized fleet vehicles and equipment is essential.  
Working directly with Recology’s Vice President, Equipment Procurement & Maintenance and Facilities 
Development, Recology will ensure all the vehicles needed to perform under the agreement with the 
Novato Sanitary District are ready and available and that all vehicles 
are both safe and compliant.   

Route audits will be conducted in the service area to verify that all 
vehicles and equipment in the area are documented correctly and 
meet the standards and expectations of both Recology’s service 
standards as well as all contractual obligations defined in the 
agreement with the District.   

Recology will refurbish and replace vehicles and equipment to 
ensure all state and federal rules, laws and standards are met in a timely manner. Details relating to 
vehicle age and replacement schedules were furnished to R3 and should be detailed in their report.  If 
more details about the fleet specifics are needed, Recology can respond to those specific requests after 
the close of the transaction once the business is under Recology operation and management.  

Database Management  
TRG currently maintains a complete customer database for Novato Disposal Services, which will be 
integrated into the Recology Customer Relationship Management (RCRM).  The customer database for 
the District already includes all pertinent information for routing, billing, and service levels, such as: 

 Customer name
 Billing address
 Service address
 Contact information
 Service level including size and number of containers
 Collection day(s)
 Current routes
 Special servicing requirements
 Entry key electronic opening device or entry code requirements
 Account history

Efficient Routing 
After the close of the transaction with TRG, Recology intends to go through an exercise to evaluate the 
routes currently servicing the Novato Sanitary District area. Recology does this through utilizing the 
experience of its supervisor and management team as well as using tools such as RouteSmart software. 
Using RouteSmart software, Recology operating companies experience a measurable reduction in 
vehicle miles traveled, fuel use, tire wear, greenhouse gas emissions, and street wear-and-tear.  

RouteSmart integrates seamlessly with ESRI’s ArcGis family of mapping products and provides the ability 
to balance routes based on time, number of lifts, or potential volumes and densities to be collected.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 90 of 116)

Attachment 6



The system takes into account vehicle type, address restrictions, and service time-of-day constraints, 
among other parameters.   

For regularly scheduled collection, customer information is downloaded from the RCRM database into 
RouteSmart for routing.  The routed data is interfaced back to the RCRM database, providing accurate 
customer information to anyone with access to either online inquiry or reports from the RCRM system.  

Throughout the term of the agreement routes will be continually subject to modifications to 
accommodate demographic and customer changes.  

Safety Systems and Procedures 
Safety of our employees and the communities we serve is critical to our success and continuity.  As 
mentioned before, training is a critical part of our on boarding process but the safety training continues 
every day after an employee-owner’s first days.  Team safety trainings occur on no less than a monthly 
basis for all operators and extensive supplemental programs are made available throughout the year 
such as Smith System driving training.   

Recology utilizes a variety of technology to support safety.  One 
example is an on-board safety system called DriveCam that allows 
for video recording of triggered safety events happening in front of 
the operating vehicles.  This footage is reviewed daily by 
supervisors and management and used in coaching and 
accountability discussions with the operators.  This video footage 
serves a mentoring tool for all of the employees and is 
incorporated into a safety resource library.   

Safety teams analyze events and claims on a regular basis 
identifying recurring behaviors and factors.  This data is then used 
to modify, focus and evolve safety training and outreach 
throughout the company.  It’s a simple program that has yielded 
positive results companywide for Recology and has allowed sites to 
learn from the collective lessons learned versus waiting for 
personal experience to serve as a mentor.  

Customer Service Plans 

One of the keys to a successful transition and ongoing service is a 
suitable and well-equipped customer service system to supplement 
the customer-centric mentality Recology champions.  Excellence in service is a detailed below in some of 
the processes built into our customer service department.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 91 of 116)

Attachment 6



Customer Service Workflow  
Recology will be keeping the current phone numbers in use so as to minimize the impact on the 
District’s residents and businesses. The Recology Sonoma Marin call center will be equipped with a 
ShoreTel Voice Over IP (VOIP) phone system with unified communications and contact center 
capabilities.  ShoreTel’s solutions are built to scale, grow, and evolve as needed.   The ShoreTel system is 
centrally managed through an intuitive server interface that makes complex tasks easier to accomplish.  
Recology IT staff can manage the system from anywhere on the network or from anywhere there is 
internet connectivity. 

The ShoreTel system allows Recology to create customized queues for Automatic Call Distribution (ACD).  
Any call is routed through the ShoreTel system, placed into the appropriate queue, and automatically 
distributed to the next available CSSs.  Supervisors can monitor progress in the queue.      

All customer data and interactions are recorded in the Recology Customer Relationship Management 
(RCRM) system.  The RCRM system is an IBM iSeries-based system that was developed over the past 28 
years to provide functionality specific to the collection and recycling business.  This software is updated 
to accommodate changes in the industry and new government regulations.  The system records the 
history of all customer-related service and interactions, including: 

 Customer and service level information
 Billing and payment history
 Customer service issues and inquiries
 Routing
 Ticketing
 Dispatching

Recology’s customer concern resolution process focuses 
on accountability and up-to-date information.  For each 
service request, a work order (or “ticket”) is created in 
the RCRM system.  The tickets are time-stamped, and 
remain open until the request is completed.  Once 
completed, a “resolution” is entered in the system, 
featuring a closing date, time, and detailed nature of 
the inquiry/resolution.   

Recology Customer Service Specialists (CSS) will also 
address in-office inquiries, such as billing questions, 
service adjustments, and opening or closing accounts.  
Route dispatchers ensure that any inquiry that needs to 
be addressed in the field (such as special pickup requests) is dispatched to the appropriate driver and 
addressed as soon as possible.   

Customer concerns requiring a follow-up call will be entered as “tickets” in the RCRM system and sent to 
either a Route Supervisor of a CSS for call back within 24 hours of resolution.  
When the driver returns to the yard at the end of the shift, the dispatcher debriefs the driver and 
reviews any tickets that were sent throughout the day.  Any tickets for resolution by the Operations 
Supervisor will be created.   

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 92 of 116)

Attachment 6



In addition, Recology creates an open ticket report at the end of each day to ensure open tickets are 
delivered to dispatch for distribution to drivers.  Copies of open ticket reports are provided to 
department managers at the close of each business day so the manager may follow up on outstanding 
concerns and appropriately distribute workloads.   

Billing Inquires  
Billing is a module within the RCRM software, and customer service information and billing information 
are therefore fully integrated.  Customers with billing concerns can contact the call center, where all CSS 
are trained to address billing concerns and make adjustments as necessary in the RCRM system.   

All charges and credits eventually appear on the bill that is provided to the customer, and a history of 
those bills is available to the CSSs for review.  This data aids the CSSs with answering customer billing 
questions.  Customers can also access the Recology website 24 hours a day, seven days a week to view 
and pay their bill or submit billing inquiries.  

Phone System  
Recology’s Call Center will be equipped with a 
ShoreTel Voice Over IP (VOIP) phone system with 
unified communications and contact center 
capabilities.  A single PRI (Primary Rate Interface) is 
capable of handling 23 calls at one time; depending on 
the magnitude of the contract, Recology can 
implement multiple PRIs.    

ShoreTel’s solutions are built to scale, grow, and 
evolve as needed.  The ShoreTel system is centrally 
managed through an intuitive server interface that 
makes complex tasks easier to accomplish.  Recology 
IT staff can manage the system from anywhere on the network or from anywhere there is internet 
connectivity. 

With a small energy footprint, a single ShoreTel module will support 90 phones and voicemail boxes 
with 56 hours of voicemail storage.  Adding more phones and voicemail boxes is as simple as adding 
another ShoreTel module, making expandability almost unlimited.  Additionally, the call center will have 
immediate access to interpreters in over 175 languages through AT&T’s Language Line.  Recology will 
also identify multi-lingual CSSs.  A TDD relay service will be used to provide customer service to hearing 
impaired customers. 

Website   
Recology maintains a website with pages tailored to each of its service areas, and has created one for 
Novato Sanitary District. The website will become live once the transaction is closed.   

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 93 of 116)

Attachment 6



Recology’s online Account Management 
capabilities allow customers to manage 
their account at their own pace.  After a 
simple enrollment process, (which requires 
the customer’s account number and service 
address for validation), customers can view 
their current service levels and scheduled 
service days.   The website enables 
customers to: 

 Request service changes
 Change contact and billing

information
 Submit enquiries
 View and pay their bill
 View their next billing cycle
 Request special services
 View current service rates
 Learn about services and programs

Beyond Account Management, Recology offer a variety of other information on its websites designed to 
educate customers on Recology’s services and programs.  Content would be tailored to the City, and 
could include: 

 Links to outreach and education material
 Announcements on new programs and services
 Standard service descriptions
 A “Contact Us” function, allowing customers to contact Recology
 Links to upcoming events

Recology also uses social media to help spread its Waste Zero mission and educate customers on 
services.  This serves as an additional method for Recology to share service updates, and community 
events, tips on sustainable living, and news.   

Payment Options   
Recology accepts bill payments online, over the telephone, by mobile application, in-person, or as 
recurring monthly charges.  The majority of Recology’s customer bills are produced on paper and mailed 
to customers.  However, a growing number of Recology’s customers prefer to pay their bills 
electronically.  

Customers have the option to receive their bills and make payments electronically over a secure website 
through Recology’s e-BillPay product.  Payments can be made from credit card, checking, or savings 
accounts, accessed through the website.   

In addition, Recology offers customers the option of paying their service bills via recurring Automated 
Clearing House (ACH) direct debits from a customer-authorized bank account.  To pay by ACH debit, 
customers must provide Recology the applicable bank account information and authorize the deduction 
from their bank account. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 94 of 116)

Attachment 6



Recology also accepts in-person bill payment.  Recology’s CSSs can also process payments made over the 
phone using a checking or savings account, or by credit or debit card.  CSSs accept these payments using 
the e-Bill Pay option, which processes the payment electronically and eliminates the need to take 
payment checks to the bank. 

Additional Contractual Requirements 
Recology Sonoma Marin understands and recognizes that it will be bound by the existing contract terms 
currently defined in the franchise agreement. 

Recycling Centers 
Recology understands that two buyback/recycling facilities are obligated under the existing contract, 
with one site currently under operation (to be relocated) and a second facility yet to be relocated.  
Recology is committed to working with the management of the Novato Sanitary District as well as any 
other parties mutually deemed appropriate in order to meet these community needs.    

Increased Outreach 
Please refer to the document titled “Novato – Public Education and Outreach Plan” to review the details 
of Recology Sonoma Marin’s plans to address the increased outreach to the District’s community and 
public schools. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 95 of 116)

Attachment 6



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Presented to the Novato Sanitary District 
October 2017 

Public Education & 
Outreach Plan 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 96 of 116)

Attachment 7



SUMMARY 
Recology has a passion for recycling that dates back to the 1920s, and a long and proud history of 
educating communities on the benefits of waste reduction. We strive to create compelling outreach and 
education programs to help excite our customers about participation in diversion efforts.  

The Recology Sonoma Marin Waste Zero Team will use a variety of strategies to ensure that Novato’s 
public schools, commercial businesses, multi-family residential properties, and single-family homes are 
well informed of the diversion programs available to them and have the necessary tools for success. 

These strategies include: 

• Website
• Newsletters
• Mailers
• Waste Audits
• Physical Tools

• Signage
• Brochures
• Driver Tags
• Presentations
• Waste Zero Events

WEBSITE  
All Recology locations can be found at www.Recology.com. Our website is well maintained, user 
friendly, and mobile friendly. We have developed a sub-site for Novato that is ready for review.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 97 of 116)

Attachment 7

http://www.recology.com/


NEWSLETTERS 
Recology Sonoma Marin will develop and mail out tailored bi-annual Spring and Fall newsletters to all 
Novato customers. Newsletters will promote waste reduction, reuse opportunities, recycling, 
composting, and proper disposal of household hazardous waste.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 98 of 116)

Attachment 7



MAILERS 
Recology Sonoma Marin will design four tailored campaigns per year for the Novato Sanitary District, 
and will promote them through bill inserts or postcard mailers. All new customers will also be sent an 
introductory postcard with an overview of services. You can find an example of this below. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 99 of 116)

Attachment 7



WASTE AUDITS 
Waste audits are an excellent tool to help schools, commercial, and multi-family customers increase 
diversion. The Recology Sonoma Marin Waste Zero Team will promote waste audits to all customers 
with 4 cubic yards of garbage service or more per week. As well, they will directly contact customers 
that need to be in compliance with AB341 and/or AB1826 to schedule a waste audit. After a waste audit 
has been conducted, service recommendations will be made to maximize diversion.  

PHYSICAL TOOLS 
Recology Sonoma Marin will provide a variety of indoor containers and other physical tools to help 
Novato customers with their diversion efforts at the cost of the item plus delivery. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 100 of 116)

Attachment 7



SIGNAGE 
Recology Sonoma Marin will maintain an extensive inventory 
of signage to help elevate diversion programs and ensure 
success, including: indoor and outdoor horizontal or vertical 
image based labels, large posters in English and Spanish 
languages, school specific posters, and “We proudly Compost 
& Recycle here!” window clings. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 101 of 116)

Attachment 7



BROCHURES  
Recology Sonoma Marin will develop informational brochures specific to each customer type and their 
needs, including: commercial customer service guides, multi-family residential property manager 
service guides, and multi-family residential tenant move-out guides. Brochures will be offered in English 
and Spanish languages. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 102 of 116)

Attachment 7



DRIVER TAGS  
Recology Sonoma Marin drivers will always have corrective action notices as well as good job cards on 
hand. Corrective action notices inform the customer of any items that need to be removed before a bin 
or cart can be serviced. Good job cards will be used to provide positive feedback for those customers 
who regularly do an exceptional job, or for those who may have recently improved significantly. 
Examples of these items can be found below. 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 103 of 116)

Attachment 7



PRESENTATIONS 
The Recology Sonoma Marin Waste Zero Team will be well-equipped to provide hands-on educational 
presentations for kids at schools, as well as for businesses or HOAs. Our school programs are 
designed to engage students on waste reduction, recycling and resource conservation. Programs are 
tailored to align with the classroom curriculum and interests of teachers and students alike.  

WASTE ZERO EVENTS  
In addition to hosting Waste Zero educational tables at a minimum of ten Novato community events per 
year, Recology Sonoma Marin will provide recycling, compost, and trash reusable event receptacles to 
ensure event waste is diverted as much as possible.  

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 104 of 116)

Attachment 7



October 26, 2017 

Sandeep Karkal 
General Manager-Chief Engineer 
Novato Sanitary District 
500 Davidson Street 
Novato, CA 94945 

Re: Response to Letter from Novato Sanitary District dated September 28, 2017 

Dear Sandeep, 

Thank you for the District’s letter on September 28, 2017. In addition to providing the Recology Sonoma Marin 
Transition Plan for the Novato Sanitary District, below are responses to the eight identified issues from the 
letter.   

With any new service implementation, Recology’s goal is to ensure a smooth transition that minimizes 
disruption to customers.  Recology’s implementation team for the District understands the unique needs of 
the District, and have carefully responded to the issues that have been raised.  

For ease of review, we have placed the specific identified issues in gray italicized text prior to the 
corresponding responses. 

1. Failure of NDS to meet its Zero Waste Minimum Landfill Diversion Requirement of 60% by December
31, 2015.

Recology has a proven track record of meeting diversion goals and requirements made in partnership
with the communities we service. Recology’s mission represents a fundamental shift from traditional
waste management to recovering more recyclable and compostable materials to be repurposed into
new products. Our dedicated Waste Zero team excels at providing the outreach, education, follow-up
and service changes needed to ensure all customers are fully engaged with the provided diversion
programs. As well, the Waste Zero team will take initiative with commercial and multi-family dwelling
customers to help them achieve full compliance with state laws AB 341 and AB 1826.

Additionally, the  Material Recovery Facility (MRF), where the source separated recyclables are
processed, has recently undergone renovations. The MRF upgrades will not only increase the
efficiencies of the processing system, but will also reduce the residue from the process which leads to
overall higher recycling numbers at the facility.

Within 3 months of the assignment and close date of the acquisition, Recology will provide a proposal
to the District on how the diversion requirements will be met. This plan will outline the proposed
timelines, programs, and stakeholders needed to achieve that diversion. Recology believes that a
programmatic approach is the most successful method to achieving higher diversion levels. And the

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 105 of 116)

Attachment 8



Recology program includes targeted customer outreach, excellent customer service and encouraging 
commercial and multi-family recycling and composting participation. So in the proposal to the District, 
Recology will also address the plans and timelines for items 2, 3, 6, 7, and 8. 

2. The poor performance of NDS’s Commercial and MFD Organic Waste Service, particularly given its
failure to meet its 60% Diversion Requirement.

Recology views organics collection as one of the most important aspects of reaching higher diversion
levels. Recology has developed successful programs where a combination of effective outreach,
ongoing campaigns, and in-person follow-ups lead to not only more participation in the organics
collection programs, but also lower contamination. With mandates such as AB 1826, commercial and
multi-family dwelling customers are more incentivized than ever to participate in such programs.

The dedicated Waste Zero team uses a variety of strategies to ensure all customers are both well-
informed and actively participating in the recycling and organics programs by providing necessary tools
for success. These strategies and tools include a specialized website, newsletters, mailers, signage,
brochures, driver tags, physical waste audits, phone calls and in-person meetings. Recology will also
perform route audits throughout the District. These route audits inform the Waste Zero team where
there are compliance and contamination issues with the organics programs. That information can then
be used to follow up directly with the customers. Together all these
efforts should lead to overall better performance and higher diversion for
the District.

3. Failure to provide MFD Recycling Tote Bags.

Recology will provide recycling tote bags to multi-family dwellings as
required by the Agreement. Recology has found that providing multi-
family units with recycling “buddy bags” helps encourage easy
participation in the recycling program. The “buddy bags” are designed to
help tenants properly sort, store, and carry their recyclable materials to
their complex’s container.

4. Relocation of the Recycling Center and HHW Facility and the addition of a second buy-back center.

Recology will cooperate with the District as required by the Agreement to relocate the existing
Recycling Center/HHW Facility and establish a second beverage container buyback center. We assume
it will be necessary to find suitable new locations and obtain third party consents in order to establish
these facilities, and we will work with the District in that process as well.

5. Lack of provision of two (2) convenient locations in the Novato area where payments can be made.

Recology will work with the District to provide appropriate payment locations within the Novato area
as required by the Agreement, one of which could be the Recycling Center/HHW Facility.

6. Lack of adequacy of NDS’s customer service system.

One  of the keys to a  successful  transition and successful ongoing service is a  well-equipped
customer service  department  to  supplement  the  customer-centric  mindset  Recology  champions.

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 106 of 116)

Attachment 8



NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 107 of 116)

Attachment 8

mailto:mbutler@recology.com


I 
2 

3 
4 

5 
6 

materially affects the operations of the Company with regard to its obligations 
under this Agreement. 

10.1.9 Suspension or Termination of Service. There is any unexcused termination of 
service or suspension of the transaction of business by the Company. 

10.1.10 Failure to Provide Assurance of Performance. lf the Company fails to 
provide reasonable assurances of performance as required under Section 10.6. 

7 10.2 Right to Terminate Upon Default 
8 Upon a default by the Company, the District shall have the right to terminate this 
9 franchise and this Agreement upon ten (10) days' notice, but without the need for any 

10 hearing, suit, or legal action. This right of termination is in addition to any other rights of 
11 the District upon a failure of the Company to petform its obligations under this 
12 Agreement. If the Company is in default as set forth above, the District, in using its 
13 discretion as to whether to exercise its right to declare default and terminate the 
14 Agreement, shall consider issues such as the Company's ability to perform the 
15 Agreement and cure the default, and whether a cure of said default is possible within a 
16 reasonable time. The District's right to terminate this Agreement and to take possession 
17 of the Company's properties are not exclusive, and the District's termination of this 
18 Agreement shall not constitute an election of remedies. Instead, they shall be in addition 
19 to any and all other legal and equitable rights and remedies that the District may have. 

20 
21 
22 
23 

By virtue of the nature of this Agreement, the urgency of timely continuous and high
quality service, the lead time required to effect alternative service, and the rights granted 
by the District to the Company, the remedy of damages for a breach hereof by the 
Company is inadequate and the District shall be entitled to injunctive relief. 

24 10.3 Liquidated Damages 

25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 

10.3.1 General. The District finds, and the Company agrees, that as of the time of the 
execution of this Agreement, it is impractical, if not impossible, to reasonably 
ascertain the extent of damages that shall be incurred by the District as a result of 
a breach by the Company of its obligations under this Agreement. The factors 
relating to the impracticability of ascertaining damages include, but are not 
limited to, the fact that: (i) substantial damage results to members of the public 
who are denied services or denied quality or reliable service; (ii) such breaches 
cause inconvenience, anxiety, frustration, and deprivation of the benefits of the 
Agreement to individual members of the general public for whose benefit this 
Agreement exists, in subjective ways and in varying degrees of intensity that are 
incapable of measurement in precise monetary terms; (iii) that services might be 
available at substantially lower costs than alternative services and the monetary 
loss resulting from denial of services or denial of quality or reliable services is 
impossible to calculate in precise monetary terms; and (iv) the termination of this 
Agreement for such breaches, and other remedies are, at best, a means of future 
correction and not remedies that make the public whole for past breaches. 

Page 67 of 100 

Attachment 9

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 108 of 116)

wschoen
Highlight



1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 

21 
22 

23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 

32 
33 
34 
35 
36 

37 
38 
39 

40 
41 
42 

10.3.2 Service Performance Standards; Liquidated Damages for Failure to Meet 
Standards. The parties acknowledge that consistent and reliable Collection 
Service is of utmost importance to the District and that the District has considered 
and relied on the Company's representations as to its quality of service 
commitment in awarding the franchise to it. The parties further recognize that if 
the Company fails to achieve the performance standards, or fails to submit 

·required documents in a timely manner, the District and its residents will suffer 
damages and that it is and will be impractical and extremely difficult to ascertain 
and determine the exact amount of damages that the District will suffer. 
Therefore, without prejudice to the District's right to treat such non-performance 
as an event of default under this Article 10, the parties agree that the following 
liquidated damage amounts represent a reasonable estimate of the amount of such 
damages considering all of the circumstances existing on the date of this 
Agreement, including the ~elation ship of the sum to the range of harm to the 
District that reasonably could be anticipated and the anticipation that proof of 
actual damages would be costly or inconvenient. In placing their initials at the 
places provided, each party specificaliy confirms the accuracy of the statements 
made above and the fact that each party has had ample opportunity to consult with 
legal counsel and obtain an explanation of the liquidated damage provisions at the 

time that the Agreement was made. _i~.L~ 

Company f f District ____ /V J? 
Initial here: Initial here: --=-'Y.___..t;J!:_¥--"'--

Accordingly , the District may, in its discretion, but after complying with notice 
and hearing procedures set fmth below, assess liquidat~d damages not to exceed 
Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per day, for each calendar day that Collection 
Service is not provided by the Company in accordance with this Agreement. 
Failure by the Company to provide Collection Service that may give rise· to the 
imposition of liquidated damages include, but are not limited to, failures to 
comply fully with the terms of this Agreement with regard to collection 
reliability, collection quality, customer responsiveness, timeliness of submission 
of reports, and/or violations of federal, state and local law. 

The Company agrees to pay (as liquidated damages and-not as a penalty) the 
amount of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per day as set forth above. The 
amount of the liquidated damages shall be subject to an annual CPI adjustment 
based on the "San Francisco /Oakland/San Jose All Urban Consumer Price 
Index." 

The District may determine the occurrence of events giving rise to liquidated 
damages through the observance of its own employees or representatives or 
through investigation of customer complaints. 

Prior to assessing liquidated damages, the District shall give the Company notice 
of its intention to do so. The notice will include a brief description of the 
incident(s)/non-performance. The Company may review (and make copies at its 

Page 68 of 1 00 

Attachment 9

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 109 of 116)



1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

11 
12 
13 
14 
15 

own expense) all information in the possession of the District relating to 
incident(s)/non-performance. The Company may, within ten (10) days after 
receiving the notice, request a meeting with the District. If a meeting is 
requested, it shall be held by the District Manager-Engineer or his/her designee. 
The Company may present evidence in writing and through testimony of its 
employees and others relevant to the incident(s)/non-performance. The District 
Manager-Engineer or designee will provide the Company with a written 
explanation of his or her determination assessing liquidated damages. The 
Company may appeal a determination to assess liquidated damages to the District 
Board within ten (10) days of receipt of the determination. 

10.3.3 Timing of Payment. The Company shall pay any liquidated damages assessed 
by the District within ten (10) days after they are assessed. If they are not paid 
within the ten (10) day period, the District may proceed against the performance 
bond required by the Agreement or order the termination of the franchise granted 
by this Agreement, or both. 

16 10.4 Excuse from Performance 
1 7 The parties shall be excused from performing their respective obligations hereunder in 
18 the event they are prevented from so performing by reason of floods 7 earthquakes, other 
19 "acts of God," war, civil insurrection, riots, labor unrest, acts of any government 
20 (including judicial action), and other similar catastrophic events that are beyond the 
21 control of and not the fault of the party claiming excuse from performance hereunder. 
22 Labor unrest, including but not limited to strike, work stoppage or slowdown, sick-out, 
23 picketing, or other concerted job action conducted by the Company's employees is not an 
24 excuse from performance and the Company shall be obligated to continue to provide 
25 service notwithstanding the occurrence of any or all of such events. 

26 The party claiming excuse from performance shall, within forty-eight (48) hours (two (2) 
27 business days) after such party has notice of such cause, give the other party notice of the 
28 facts constituting such cause and asserting its claim to excuse under this Section. 

29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 

The interruption or discontinuance of the Company's services caused by one or more of 
the events excused shall not constitute a default by the Company under Section 10.1 of 
this Agreement. In the event the Company is prevented from providing service, either 
due to attachment or any other factor set forth above, including judicial action, for a 
period of thirty (30) days or more, it is understood and agreed that the District will have 
the right to provide service pursuant to Article 9, either directly or by subcontracting with 
a third party. Under circumstances where the Company has failed to provide service and 
the default is excused, as set forth above, the District has the right to perform such 
services or to subcontract for the same, fm· up to one (1) year. In the case of excused 
labor unrest set forth above, however, the District has the right to perform said services or 
to subcontract for the same, for a period of up to six (6) months. The Company agrees to 
pay the District's cost of providing the service. If, after the time specified herein, the 
Company cannot thereafter provide service as agreed, the District can declare default and 
terminate the Agreement. 

Page 69 of 100 

Attachment 9

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 110 of 116)



1 
2 

3 
4 

5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 

17 
18 
19 

20 
21 
22 

23 
24 
25 

26 
27 

28 
29 

30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 

36 
37 
38 

4.9 

other competent authority with jurisdiction, and shall clean up the release or spill 
using approved techniques. 

Zero Waste Minimum Requirements 
The Company must achieve all of the following Zero Waste Minimum Requirements. 

4.9.1 Landfill Diversion Requirements. In 2009 the Company reached a fifty percent 
(50%) Diversion From Landfill Rate. The District requires the Company to 
achieve a diversion from landfill rate with a minimum diversion rate of sixty 
percent (60%) by December 31, 2015; seventy percent (70%) by December 31, 
2020; and eighty percent (80%) by December 31,2025, and each successive 
calendar year or such other amount as may be set by the District. The Diversion 
From Landfill Rate will be calculated as the tons of materials collected by the 
Company from providing services as specified in this Agreement that are sold or 
delivered to a Materials Recovery Facility or Organic Waste Processing Facility, 
recycler or re-user, net of all residue, divided by the total tons of materials 
collected under this Agreement by the Company in each twelve (12) month 
calendar year (January 1 st_December 31st). 

4.9 .2 MFD and Commercial Recycling. The Company shall fully implement the 
MFD and Commercial Recycling Programs as set forth in Section 4.4.3 by July 
31' 2012. 

4.9.3 Organic Waste Collection and Processing Requirements. The Company shall 
fully implement the SFD, MFD, and Commercial Organic Waste programs as set 
forth in Sections 4.2.9 and 4.3.4 by March 31,2013. 

4.9.4 Drop-Off Recycling Center. The Company shall cooperate with the District and 
fully fund the implementation of any future-relocation, expansion and operation of 
a new Drop-Off Recycling Center as set forth in Section 4.11.7. 

4.9.5 Public School Recycling. The Company shall fully implement the Public School 
Recycling program as set forth in Exhibit 5 by March 31,2012. 

4.9 .6 Community Outreach Program. The Company shall fully implement the 
Community Outreach Program as set forth in Section 5.4 by December 31 , 2011 . 

4.9.7 Wet-Dry Collection. The Company shall work with the District to determine if 
wet-dry collection is necessary to meet the December 31, 2020 Landfill Diversion 
Requirements. Such determination shall be made by December 31, 2018, and if it 
is determined that wet-dry collection is necessary, and the District agrees and 
approves of implementing wet-dry collection, than the Company shall fully 
implement wet-dry collection by December 31 , 2020. 

4.9.8 Conversion Technology. The Company shall work with the District to determine 
if utilizing conversion technology is viable and necessary to meet the December 
31,2025 Landfill Diversion Requirements. Such determination shall be made by 

Page 34 of 100 

Attachment 10

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 111 of 116)

wschoen
Highlight

wschoen
Highlight

wschoen
Highlight

wschoen
Highlight



1 
2 
3 
4 

5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 

December 31, 2020, and if it is determined that the use of conversion technology 
is necessary, and the District agrees and approves of implementing the use of 
conversion technology, than the Company shall delivery collected Garbage to 
conversion technology facilities by December 31 , 2025. 

4.9.9 Failure to Meet Minimum Requirements. The Company's failure to meet the 
Minimum Zero Waste Requirements set forth in Sections 4.9 .1 through 4.9.8 
above may result in the denial of an extension to this Agreement as specified in 
Section 2.4. In determining whether or not to hold the Company in default of this 
Agreement, or denial of a term extension, the District will consider the good faith 
efforts put fmth by the Company in implementing the required programs to meet 
the minimum Zero Waste Requirements and the methods and level of effort of the 
Company to fully implement the services required in this Agreement. 

13 4.10 Future Zero Waste Services 

14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

Technology and Regulatory Changes. The Company and the District acknowledge that 
during the term of this Agreement new technologies may be developed to cost effectively 
divert materials from landfill disposal that are not known at this time, and that new local, 
state, or federal laws and regulations may be enacted that change the manner in which 
Garbage, Recyclable Materials, and Organic Waste are managed. Accordingly, the 
Company and the District will cooperate to develop and implement additional, or 
replacement, programs resulting from any such future technological or regulatory 
changes to further the goal of reaching Zero Waste. 

22 4.11 Disposal, Processing, Drop-off, and Reuse Facilities 

23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 

31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 

4.11.1 Compliance with Regulations. All materials collected under this Agreement 
shall be delivered to facilities that comply with the Department of Resources 
Recycling and Recovery regulations under Title 14, Chapter 3, Minimum 
Standards for Solid Waste Handling and Disposal (Alticle.5 .9-Sections 17380-
17386). The Company, and not the District, must assure that all Disposal, 
transfer, and processing facilities are properly permitted to re~eive material 
collected under this Agreement. Failure to comply with this provision may result 
in the Company being in default under this Agreement. 

4.11.2 Permits and Approvals. The Company must assute that all facilities selected by 
the Company shall possess all existing permits and approvals by local 
enforcement agencies so that it may be in full compliance with all laws and 
regulatory agency requirements to conduct all operations at the approved location. 
The Company shall, upon written request from the District, arrange for the 
facilities selected by the Company to provide copies of facility permits, notices of 
violations, inspection areas or concerns, or administrative action to correct 
deficiencies related to the operation. Failure to provide facility information may 
result in the Company being in default under this Agreement. 

Page 35 of 100 

Attachment 10

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet 
November 1, 2017 (Page 112 of 116)



1 

ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT*

This Assignment and Assumption Agreement is entered into as of October ___, 2017 by 
and among Novato Sanitary District (“District”), Novato Disposal Service, Inc., a California 
corporation (“NDS”), and Recology Sonoma Marin, a California corporation (“Recology”). 

WHEREAS, District and NDS are parties to an Amended and Restated Agreement for 
Solid Waste Collection, Processing, Diversion and Disposal dated March 2011 (the “Franchise 
Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, The Ratto Group of Companies Inc. and its owners and affiliated entities, 
including NDS (collectively, “Ratto”), entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement dated August 
11, 2017 (the “APA”) which provides for the purchase by Recology Inc. or its designated 
subsidiaries of substantially all of Ratto’s assets; 

WHEREAS, in connection with the closing of the transactions contemplated by the APA 
(the “Closing”), NDS wishes to assign the Franchise Agreement to Recology, and Recology 
wishes to accept such assignment; 

WHEREAS, Section 11.6 of the Franchise Agreement provides that the Franchise 
Agreement may not be assigned by NDS without the prior written consent of District, not to be 
unreasonably withheld; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Subject to and effective as of the Closing, NDS will assign to Recology all of its right, title
and interest in and to the Franchise Agreement. 

2. Subject to and effective as of the Closing, Recology will accept such assignment and will
assume all duties and obligations of NDS under the Franchise Agreement from and after the 
Closing. 

3. Recology agrees to notify District of the assignment date (i.e. the Closing date) within five
(5) business days thereafter. 

4. Recology agrees to conduct a review of billings in accordance with Section 5.1.2 of the
Franchise Agreement, within one (1) year of the assignment date. 

5. Recology agrees to provide a list of vehicles assigned to District’s franchise, with vehicles
ages and anticipated replacement schedule, within sixty (60) days of the assignment date. 

6. Subject to and effective as of the Closing, the Franchise Agreement shall be amended
(automatically and without any further action by any party) to delete the 2nd paragraph of Section 
11.7. 

7. District acknowledges the satisfaction or waiver of all conditions under Section 11.6 with
respect to the foregoing assignment and assumption. 

8. District hereby consents to the foregoing assignment and assumption on the terms and
conditions set forth herein. 

Attachment 11

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 113 of 116)

(*draft Recology version)



2 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Assignment and Assumption 
Agreement as of the date first written above. 

Novato Sanitary District 

By: 
Name: 
Title: 

Novato Disposal Service, Inc. 

By: 
Name: 
Title: 

Recology Sonoma Marin 

By: 
Name: 
Title:

Attachment 11

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 114 of 116)

(*draft Recology version)



ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT*

This Assignment and Assumption Agreement is entered into as of October ___, 2017, by 
and among NOVATO SANITARY DISTRICT (“District”), NOVATO DISPOSAL SERVICE, INC., 
a California corporation (“NDS”), and RECOLOGY SONOMA MARIN, a California corporation 
(“Recology”). 

WHEREAS, District and NDS are parties to an Amended and Restated Agreement for 
Solid Waste Collection, Processing, Diversion and Disposal dated March 2011 (“Franchise 
Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, The Ratto Group of Companies Inc. and its owners and affiliated entities, 
including NDS (collectively, “Ratto”), entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement dated 
August 11, 2017 (“APA”) which provides for the purchase by Recology Inc. or its designated 
subsidiaries of substantially all of Ratto’s assets; 

WHEREAS, in connection with the closing of the transactions contemplated by the APA 
(“Closing”), NDS wishes to assign the Franchise Agreement to Recology, and Recology wishes 
to accept such assignment; 

WHEREAS, Recology seeks to assure the District that, following the purchase pursuant 
to the APA, Recology will operate in accordance with high professional standards and provide 
services to the District’s constituents in full compliance with the terms of the Franchise 
Agreement and the District’s operational expectations; 

WHEREAS, Section 11.6 of the Franchise Agreement provides that the Franchise 
Agreement may not be assigned by NDS without the prior written consent of District, not to be 
unreasonably withheld; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Subject to and effective as of the Closing, NDS will assign to Recology all of its
right, title and interest in and to the Franchise Agreement. 

2. Subject to and effective as of the Closing, Recology will accept such assignment
and will assume all duties and obligations of NDS under the Franchise Agreement from and 
after the Closing. 

3. Recology agrees to notify District of the assignment date (i.e. the Closing date)
within five (5) business days thereafter. 

4. Recology agrees to conduct a review of billings in accordance with Section 5.1.2
of the Franchise Agreement, within one (1) year of the assignment date. 

5. Recology agrees to provide a list of vehicles assigned to District’s franchise, with
vehicles ages and anticipated replacement schedule, within sixty (60) days of the assignment 
date.[BG1] 

6. Subject to and effective as of the Closing, the Franchise Agreement shall be
amended (automatically and without any further action by any party) to delete Section 
2.5 and the second paragraph of Section 11.7.[BG2] 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 115 of 116)

Item 6.d.
(Pages 115 to 116)

(*District Counsel redline version)

SandeepK
Rectangle



6. Recology accepts, and District acknowledges the satisfaction or waiver of, all
conditions under Section 11.6 with respect to the foregoing assignment and assumption. 

7. Recology acknowledges that Exhibit 8 of the Franchise Agreement provides a
methodology for the Detailed Rate Review, which review will evaluate forecasted labor-related 
costs, vehicle-related costs, and other costs including pass-through expenses.  It is agreed that 
the pass-through expenses are not included in any calculation of Company profit and based on 
past practice and agreement by Ratto, that pass-through expenses include:  disposal fees for 
debris and refuse; processing and disposal fees for organics; Franchise Fees; Integrated Waste 
Management Fees; and the Rate Application Review Fee. 

8. District hereby consents to the foregoing assignment and assumption on the
terms and conditions set forth herein, subject to receipt by the District of an acceptable parent 
company guarantee from Recology Inc.. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Assignment and Assumption 
Agreement as of the date first written above. 

NOVATO SANITARY DISTRICT 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

NOVATO DISPOSAL SERVICE, INC. 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

RECOLOGY SONOMA MARIN 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

2880424.1 

NSD Solid Waste Committee Agenda Packet
November 1, 2017 (Page 116 of 116)

(*District Counsel redline version)


	1. SW AGENDA 11-01-17
	Meeting Date:  November 1, 2017
	The Solid Waste Committee of Novato Sanitary District will hold a meeting at 2:30pm, Wednesday, November 1, 2017 at the District offices, 500 Davidson Street Novato CA

	3. NOVMIN 09-20-17
	4.d. HHWreports & E-waste Program
	4.d.1. HHWreports
	Item4.d 2017HHW(1)
	Item4.d 2017HHW(2)
	Item 4.d. HHW(3)

	4.d.2. E-Waste program
	Saturday, October 7 – Tuesday, October 10, 2017
	Number of Participants: 705 residents
	Background
	Participation
	Costs/reimbursements
	Publicity and Outreach



	4.e. 2017 Disposal diversion
	Item4.e.NDSdisposaldiversion
	Item4.e AB939Disposaldiversion

	5.a. Novato - Public Education and Outreach 10.13.17
	5.b. RSM Pub Ed 10.26.17
	��Public Education & Outreach
	Mailers
	Brochures
	Signage
	Signage
	Signage
	Signage
	Presentations
	Waste Zero Events
	Newsletters
	Website
	Slide Number 12

	6.a. Novato Sanitary District - Transition Plan - Final
	6.b. Novato Sanitary District - Response Letter - 10.26.2017
	6.b.1. Letter to Recology Re - Assignment 092817
	6.c. Novato Sanitary District - Assignment  Final Letter Report - 102617
	6.c.1. Attachments 1 -11
	Attachment 1 - Section 11.6 (Assignment) of Novato Sanitary District Franchise Agreement March 2011
	Attachment 2 - Executive Summary - Recology Assignment - FINAL REPORT 101717
	Attachment 3 - Novato Assignment Request Letter 081817
	Attachment 4 - Recology - Novato Sanitary District - Assignment Requirements Letter - 8.25.17
	Novato Sanitary District - Assignment Requirements Letter 8.25.2017
	Novato Sanitary District - Signature Pages

	Attachment 5 -Letter to Recolgy Re - Assignment 092817
	Attachment 6 - Novato Sanitary District - Transition Plan - Final
	Attachment 7 - Novato - Public Education and Outreach Plan 10.16.2017 (1)
	SUMMARY
	WEBSITE
	NEWSLETTERS
	MAILERS
	WASTE AUDITS
	PHYSICAL TOOLS
	SIGNAGE
	BROCHURES
	DRIVER TAGS
	PRESENTATIONS
	WASTE ZERO EVENTS

	Attachment 8 - Novato Sanitary District - Recology Response Letter - 10.25.17
	Attachment 9 - Section 10.3 (Liquidated Damages) of Novato Sanitary District Franchise Agreement March 2011
	Attachment 10 - Section 4.9 (Zero Waste Minimum Requirements) of Novato Sanitary District Franchise Agreement March 2011
	Attachment 11 - Novato Assignment  Assumption Agreement - no comments

	6.d. Novato Assignment  Assumption Agreement Oct 27 (KentAlm version)



